

# DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center Annapolis, Maryland 21402

ł

## AN INITIAL CRITICAL SUMMARY OF MODELS FOR PREDICTING THE ATTENUATION OF RADIO WAVES BY TREES

PREPARED FOR

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE ELECTROMAGNETIC COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS CENTER ANNAPOLIS, MARYLAND 21402



JULY 1982

FINAL REPORT

Prepared by Mark A. Weissberger of IIT Research Institute Under Contract to Department of Defense



Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.



COPY

This report was prepared by the IIT Research Institute under Contract F-19628-80-C-0042 with the Electronic Systems Division of the Air Force Systems Command in support of the DoD Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center, Annapolis, Maryland.

This report has been reviewed and is approved for publication,

Marka. Weissberger

MARK A. WEISSBERGER Project Manager, IITRI

Reviewed by:

JAMES H. COOK Assistant Director Contractor Operations

Approved by:

vi zelle

Director

L.M. messer

A. M. MESSER Chief, Plans & Resource Management

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
	NO 1 RECIPIENT'S GATALOG NUMBER
ESD-TR-81-101 . A 18.34	
. TITLE (and Subtilie)	3. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
AN INITIAL CRITICAL SUMMARY OF MODELS FOR	FINAL REPORT
PREDICTING THE ATTENUATION OF RADIO WAVES	
BY TREES	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
· AUTHOR(=)	S. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(+)
Mark & Madankawan	F-19628 80-C-0042
Mark A. Weissberger	CDRL #/10S
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
Department of Defense	AREA'S WORK UNIT NUMBERS
Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center	
Annapolis, Maryland 21402	
1. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS	12. REPORT DATE
Department of Defense	July 1982
Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center	13. NUMBER OF PAGES
Annapolis, Maryland 21402	140
4. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If different from Controlling Offic	e) 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
	UNCLASSIFIED
	15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
S. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report)	
Approved for public release; distribution unlim 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen	
Approved for public release; distribution unlim 7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetrace entered in Block 20, 11 differen	
· · ·	
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 11 differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	t (rom Repart)
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Black 20, 11 differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block num	t (rom Repart)
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abetrace entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block me PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE	t (rom Report) (ber)
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block not PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS ,TUNGLE FO	t (rom Report) (ber)
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block must PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION TREES	t (rom Report)
7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block not PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS ,TUNGLE FO	t (rom Report)
7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block me PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS ,TUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TRANSMISS: 0. AUSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block me	t (rom Report)
7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if different 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block me PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FO PROPAGATION STREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TRANSMISS 0. ANALTHACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block me This report is a review of models and data	t (rom Report) (bor) LIAGE ION LOSS (or) that can be used to predict
7. CISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if differen 8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block new PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION STREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TRANSMISS 10. ANTIMICT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block man This report is a review of models and data the increase in attenuation due to trees and under	t (rom Report) her) LIAGE ION LOSS her) that can be used to predict derbrush that are located
<ul> <li>7. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, 11 different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>9. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block need propagation Models Foliage Propagation Loss Jungle Fol PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>9. ANTIMICT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block need the increase in attenuation due to trees and under between a radio transmitter and receiver. Appl:</li> </ul>	t (rom Report) ther) LIAGE ION LOSS that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>9. KEY WORDS (Centinue on reverse elde if necessary and identify by block map PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOI PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOI PROPAGATION STREES</li> <li>FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>9. AUTUACT (Continue on reverse elde if necessary and identify by block map This report is a review of models and data the increase in attenuation due to trees and und between a radio transmitter and receiver. Appl: 95 GHz band are addressed with emphasis placed of the street o</li></ul>	tion Report) LIAGE ION LOSS Her) that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range.
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstrass entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. KEY WORDS (Centinue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block manual propagation Models propagation Loss JUNGLE FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOLIAGE PROPAGATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>6. ALLETTACT (Centinue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block manual trees in attenuation due to trees and under the increase in attenuation due to trees and under the shown that the conventional technique for</li> </ul>	t from Report) LIAGE ION LOSS that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range. predicting the loss caused
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstrass entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. KEY WORDS (Centinue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block management of the propagation has been a small grove of trees in a small grov</li></ul>	t from Report) LIAGE ION LOSS that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range. predicting the loss caused s often substantially in
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse olde if necessary and identify by block may propagation LOSS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>8. ABLE CT (Continue on reverse olde if necessary and identify by block may for the second state increase in attenuation due to trees and under the increase in attenuation due to trees and underween a radio transmitter and receiver. Appl: 95 GHz band are addressed with emphasis placed of it is shown that the conventional technique for by propagation through a small grove of trees is error. An improved empirical model is developed.</li> </ul>	time Report) LIAGE ION LOSS Her) that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range. predicting the loss caused s often substantially in d to mitigate the problem;
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>9. KEY WORDS (Centinue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block met PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FO PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FO PROPAGATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>9. ABSTRICT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block met This report is a review of models and data the increase in attenuation due to trees and und between a radio transmitter and receiver. Appl: 95 GHz band are addressed with emphasis placed of it is shown that the conventional technique for by propagation through a small grove of trees is error. An improved empirical model is developed a physical justification for the model is present.</li> </ul>	time Report) LIAGE ION LOSS Her) that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range. predicting the loss caused s often substantially in d to mitigate the problem;
<ul> <li>7. LISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract entered in Block 20, if different</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES</li> <li>8. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse olde if necessary and identify by block may propagation LOSS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION MODELS FOLIAGE PROPAGATION LOSS JUNGLE FOL PROPAGATION TREES FOLIAGE PENETRATION TREES</li> <li>8. ABLE CT (Continue on reverse olde if necessary and identify by block may for the second seco</li></ul>	time Report) LIAGE ION LOSS Her) that can be used to predict derbrush that are located ications in the 3 MHz to on the 200 to 9200 MHz range. predicting the loss caused s often substantially in d to mitigate the problem;

ليشتعمه أعبابه أعما بأه

ومكريس كأحمينه استأصيك ومالقا م

i

n na series a series and and an annual series and a series and a series and a series of the series of the series and a series of the series o

The second second second

**Systemated systems** and a second distance of the system distance of a state of the system of the sy

Ļ,

the state

うちょうかい ちょうしょう おおやち いいしう オーマン・オングイン しょうご 伊藤 あいていたい 時代 いたたい 時代 副本式 読む かんせいか

#### PREFACE

The Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center (ECAC) is a Department of Defense facility, established to provide advice and assistance on electromagnetic compatibility matters to the Secretary of Defense, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, the military departments and other DoD components. The center, located at North Severn, Annapolis, Maryland 21402, is under the policy control of the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Communication, Command, Control and Intelligence and the Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff, or their designees, who jointly provide policy guidance, assign projects, and establish priorities. ECAC functions under the executive direction of the Secretary of the Air Force and the management and technical direction of the Center are provided by military and civil service personnel. The technical support function is provide through an Air Force-sponsored contract with the IIT Research Institute (IITRI).

To the extent possible, all abbreviations and symbols used in this report are taken from American National Standard ANSI Y10.19 (1969) "Letter Symbols for Units Used in Science and Technology" issued by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI), Inc.

Users of this report are invited to submit comments that would be useful in revising or adding to this material to the Director, ECAC, North Severn, Annapolis, MD, 21402, Attention: XM.



iii/iv

#### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The traditional model for predicting the increase in loss due to propagation through trees is this exponential decay (EXD) model:

 $L = 0.26 F^{0.77} d_{e}$ 

where L is the loss due to the trees in dB, F is the frequency in GHz, and  $d_f$  is the depth of the trees in meters. In this report, it is shown that for problems in the 230-MHz to 95-GHz band, a better prediction is obtained from this modified exponential decay (MED) model:

- L = 1.33  $F^{0.284} d_f^{0.588}$  for  $14 \le d_f \le 400$ 
  - = 0.45  $F^{0.284} d_f$  for  $0 < d_f < 14$

The MED model is found to be applicable to cases in which the ray path is blocked by dense, dry, in-leaf trees found in temperate-latitude forests.

Comparisons between eight sets of measurements and predictions of the EXD and MED models are presented. It is seen that the rms prediction errors of the EXD model are 37, 27, 24, 15, 14, 13, 10, and 4 dB; the corresponding prediction errors of the MED model are 6, 9, 7, 8, 2, 7, 10, and 2 dB.

The problems for which other authors have found diffraction models to be applicable are discussed. These models can be used for geometries in which the majority of the signal propagates over, rather than through, the traes. The studies described pertain to the 25-MHz to 5-GHz band. Guidelines for choosing between the MED model and the diffraction models are presented. There is no documented criterion for choosing between the knife-edge and smooth-sphere diffraction models, however.

v

ţ.

Kinase's empirical-theoretical model was found to be applicable to problems where one antenna is located well above the foliage. The model is based on the assumption that the second antenna is in an area  $\eta$  of which is covered with trees.  $\eta$  is an input parameter which can be varied from 1 to 50. Kinase's model is based on data in the 80 - 700 MHz frequency range.

The Jansky and Bailey empirical model was found to be applicable to problems where both antennas are immersed in a tropical forest. Path lengths can vary from 8 to 1600 meters, frequencies from 25 to 400 MHz. Antenna heights should be less than 7 meters. A comparison between a limited set of measurements and predictions of the Jansky and Bailey empirical and a lateralwave theoretical model is presented. In this comparison, the empirical model is seen to be more accurate. The theoretical model predictions were made using measured values of the electrical parameters of the forests in which the loss measurements were made. Use of effective values of these electrical parameters appears to increase the accuracy of the theoretical model, but no guidelines for determining such values have been reported.

A review of tropical and nontropical measurements showed that, very often, the field strength at an antenna that is moved through foliage will be Rayleigh distributed. Thus, circuit performance calculations should account for this multipath-fading behavior in addition to accounting for the median foliage loss. Equations for computing bit-error rates for signals subjected to frequency-flat Rayleigh fading are presented for FSK and PSK.

٧i

161.41. TO .

stige weiten im in

.

and a state of the state of the

a site and the statements

## GLOSSARY

Symbol	Word	Definition
*bo	Basic transmission loss (ratio) in the absence of foliage	The ratio of the power input to a lossless isotropic transmitting antenna to the power available at the terminals of a remote lossless isotropic receiving antenna. $l_{bo}$ is a value that is computed or measured with no trees between the transmitter or receiver.
Lpo	Basic transmission loss, dB, in the absence of foliage	10 log L <sub>bo</sub>
đť	Depth of foliage, meters	The depth of the trees between the transmitter and receiver, in meters.
α	Differential attenuation due to foliage, dB/meter	This quantity is determined by first subtracting the loss on a path without trees from the loss on a comparable path with trees. The result, in dB, is divided by the depth of the trees, in meters.

ine Random Statistical Manager Statistics

1

vii

Ŀ.

والإلامة والاروف والملافة الملافة

Symbol	Nord	Definition
Ъ	Basic transmission loss, dB, with foliage	$L_b = L_{bc} + \alpha d_f$
EXD Model	Exponential decay model	A model based on the assumption that a will not be a function of the depth of trees.
MED Model	Modified exponential decay model	A model in which a is assumed to be a function of the depth of trees.
F		Frequency in GHz.
f		Frequency in MHz.

viii

÷

SSD-TR-81-101

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Subsection

and the second second

Page

والمعالمة وتقتف الطبي

## SECTION 1

## INTRODUCTION

1.1	BACKGROUND	1
1.2	OBJECTIVE	3
1.3	APPROACH	3

## SECTION 2

## PREDICTING THE INCREASE IN LOSS CAUSED BY PROPAGATION THROUGH A GROVE OF TREES

2.1 THE EXPONENTIAL DECAY (EXD) MODEL: BACKGROUND	7
2.2 EXAMPLES OF EXPONENTIAL DECAY MODELS REPORTED IN THE	
LITERATURE	9
2.3 THE BASIS OF THE MED MODEL	12
2.4 VALIDATION OF THE MED MODEL	22
2.4.1 The Saxton and Lane Data - Europe and Pennsylvania, 500-3200	
МНд. с	27
2.4.2 McQuate's Data - Colorado, 200-9200 MHz	29
2.4.3 Frankel's Data - California, 1850 MHz	29
2.4.4 The Hughes Aircraft Data - Florida, 400 MHz	35
2.4.5 The Georgia Institute of Technology Data - Georgia,	
9.4–95.0 GHz	37
2.4.6 Summary of Subsection 2.4	37
2.5 FURTHER DISCUSSION OF THE MED MODEL	39
2.5.1 The Mode of Propagation Described by the MED Model	39
2.5.2 Notes on the Loss-Versus-Distance Trend	41
2.5.3 Justification of the Loss-Versus-Frequency Trend of the MED	
Model	45

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

1.

Subsection

Page

### SECTION 2 (Continued)

47
53
53
55
57
58
58
58
58
62
64
65

#### SECTION 3

### DIFFRACTION OVER TREES

3.1	INTRODUCTION	67
3.2	HEAD THE SSD MODEL	67
3.3	MEEKS THE KED MODEL	70
3.4	LaGRONE THE KED MODEL	70
3.5	OTHER EXAMPLES OF RED BEHAVIOR	71
3.6	SUMMARY OF THE DIFFRACTION MODEL STUDIES	73

#### SECTION 4

## KINASE'S AREA MODEL FOR TRANSMISSION FROM AN

#### ELEVATED ANTENNA

75

550-TR-81-101

### TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

## Subsection

Page

بيتا ب المحققة في

1

Ē

## SECTION 5

## THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL FOR LOSS IN A TROPICAL FOREST

5.1 THE BA	ASIC EQUATION	79
5.2 VALIDA	ATION OF THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL	30
5.2.1 LOW	Antenna Height Data - the Accuracy of the Jansky and Bailey	
E	mpirical Model	30
5.2.2 Low	Antenna Height Data - Comparisons with the Theoretical	
L	ateral-Wave Model	36
5.2.3 Fur	ther Discussion on the Accuracy of the Jansky and Bailey	
E	mpirical Model	39
5.3 SUMMAI	RY OF SECTION 5	90

## SECTION 6

MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL LOSS CAUSED BY TREES 91

## SECTION 7

THE VARIATION OF SIGNAL STRENGTH WITH POSITION IN A FOREST

7.1 INTRODUCTION	103
7.2 A MODEL UTILIZING THE RAYLEIGH DISTRIBUTION	105
7.3 A MODEL UTILIZING THE NAKAGANI-RICE DISTRIBUTION	107
7.4 MEASURED VALUES OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF FIELD STRENGTHS THAT RESULT	
FROM MOVEMENT OF A TERMINAL	108
7.4.1 Tropical Forests	108
7.4.2 Nontropical Forests	110
7.5 SUMMARY OF SECTION 7	111

### TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

## Subsection

.

## Page

a Baskana - Jose

## SECTION 8

## THE IMPACT OF FREQUENCY-FLAT FADING ON SYSTEM PERFORMANCE

8.1	THE EFFECTS OF THE VARIATION OF SIGNAL STRENGTH WITH POSITION ON	
	SYSTEM PERFORMANCE	113
8.2	PREDICTING AN OVERALL BIT-ERROR RATE	114
8.3	PREDICTING THE FRACTION OF TIME THAT A SPECIFIED BIT-ERROR RATE	
	WILL NOT BE EXCEEDED	117
8.4	SUMMARY OF SECTION 8	119

### SECTION 9

•

## SUMMARY 121

### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

## Figure

وحدارا فعراد والأندية الانتساء المراجع ويرعد

1	Saxton and Lane's portrayal of $\alpha$ as a function of frequency	11
2	Graph illustrating the errors that may arise when the	
	EXD model is used	14
3	Trend of $\alpha$ vs depth of trees for the California data	16
4	Trend of a vs depth of trees - Colorado measurements	
	compared with the MED and EXD models	23
5	Trend of α vs depth of trees - California measurements	
	compared with the MED and EXD models	24

xii

States of the state of the stat

A second s

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

a the second second

## Figure

ALL CALLER

 COLUMN STREET

## Page

NAME OF A DESCRIPTION OF A

. Salar

1

1

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (Continued)

6	Trend of a vs depth of trees for the Florida data and	
	the EXD and MED equations	25
7	Trend of $\alpha$ vs depth of trees - Georgia data and	
	models	26
8	Predicted and measured losses for the Saxton and Lane data	28
9	Predicted and measured losses for the 14- and 15-meter	
	Colorado paths	30
10	Predicted and measured losses for the 45-meter Colorado	
	data	31
11	Predicted and measured losses for the 60-meter Colorado	
	data	32
12	Predicted and measured losses for the 91-meter Colorado	
	data	33
13	Predicted and measured losses for the California data	34
14	An experiment at 400 MHz demonstrating that a particular	
	propagation path is through the trees rather than over	
	them	40
15	An example of the loss caused by propagation through bare	
	trunks being lower than the loss through the branchy	
	region; 9190 MHz, horizontal polarization	43
16	The trends of $\alpha$ vs frequency for the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone	
	EXD model and the MED model	46
17	Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency	
	predicted 'v' two models with the measured values of trend	48
18	Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency	
	predicted by two models with the measured values of the	
	trend	49

and i

attance and a mound Reserve of

. t. .

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Street and a second second second

## Figure

19 C (19

Advantation of the

A STATE OF A

the state

Ï

「「「「「「「」」」」

Strate of States

i : ş

1

And a second second

A second s

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (Continued)

19	Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency	
	predicted by two models with the measured values of the	
•	trend	50
20	Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency	
	predicted by two models with the measured value of the	
	trend	51
21	Observed range applicability of the MED model for temperate	
	forests	54
22	Differential attenuation due to foliage tropical jungle	
	and vertical polarization	60
23	Differential attenuation due to foliage tropical jungle	
	and horizontal polarization	61
24	The additional loss due to diffraction over knife-edges (KED)	
	or smooth-spheres (SSD)	68
25	Reduction in foliage attenuation vs clearance in	
	wavelengths, 25 MHz, tropical vegetation	72
26	True tree height minus effective obstacle height required to	
	obtain accurate diffraction loss calculation	74
27	Kinase's estimate of the additional loss due to foliage and	
	man-made structures that cover $\eta$ of the surface area	76
28	Kinase's model for clutter due to man-made obstructions	
	and vegetation	77
2 <del>9</del>	Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency one	
	antenna blocked by a 60-90 meter grove	92
30	Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency extensive	
	grove of trees, no clearing	93
31	Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency extensive	
	grove of trees. 5-20 meter clearing	94

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (Continued) Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- extensive 32 grove of trees, 35-65 meter clearing..... 95 33 Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- one antenna immediately behind a single tree..... 96 34 Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- both antennas immersed in a tropical jungle, antenna separation = 0.3 km..... 97 35 Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- both antennas immersed in a tropical jungle, antenna separation = 0.8 km...... 98 36 Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- both antennas immersed in a tropical jungle, antenna separation = 1.6 km...... 99 37 Additional loss due to foliage vs depth of trees, 910 MHz. clearing size less than 12 meters..... 100 38 Additional loss due to foliage vs antenna height -extensive grove of trees, 1290 MHz, clearing size less than 20 meters..... 101 39 An illustration of the spatial variation in signal strength due to multipath in the forest environment..... 104 40 The observed variability of the signal received in a nontropical forest..... 111 41 BER for a noncoherent FSK system subjected to Rayleigh or Nakagami-Rice fades..... 115

xv

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

LIST OF TABLES

Table Page MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE TO DRY 1 TREES IN LEAF -- THE SAXTON AND LANE DATA..... 10 MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE TO DRY 2 TREES IN LEAF -- FRANKEL'S DATA...... 13 3 MCOUATES'S MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUN TO DRY TREES IN LEAF (Remote antenna height = 2m)...... 18 MCQUATE'S MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE ( TO DRY TREES IN LEAF (Remote antenna height = 13m)..... 20 RMS ERRORS OBSERVED WHEN THE EXD AND MED MODEL PREDICTIONS 5 WERE COMPARED WITH MCQUATE'S COLORADO DATA (230-9200 MHz) .... 29 COMPARISON BETWEEN THE HUGHES AIRCRAFT FLORIDA MEASUREMENTS 6 AND PREDICTIONS..... 36 7 COMPARING MILLIMETER WAVE MEASUREMENTS WITH PREDICTED LOSS VALUES..... 38 THE COMPARISON OF THE RMS ERRORS OF THE MED AND SAXTON-LANE-8 LAGRONE EXD MODELS WHEN THEY ARE USED TO PREDICT LOSS-VERSUS-FREQUENCY TRENDS..... 52 9 MEASUREMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN ACCURATELY DESCRIBED BY EITHER THE MED MODEL OR A DIFFRACTION MODEL..... 56 EXPERIMENTAL VALUES OF a FOR A TROPICAL FOREST...... 10 59 LOSS DUE TO TREES IN-LEAF VERSUS LEAFLESS TREES...... 11 63 THE ATTENUATION DUE TO WET TREES IN LEAF...... 12 64 13 CONSTANTS FOR THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL..... 80 14 COMPARISON BETWEEN PREDICTED AND MEASURED VALUES OF THE TOTAL BASIC TRANSMISSION LOSS BETWEEN ANTENNAS SEPARATED BY TROPICAL FOLIAGE..... 82

xvi

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

### Table

Page

भुरःमन्भ

LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

15	PREDICTED AND MEASURED BASIC-TRANSMISSION LOSSES	88
16	CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RAYLEIGH AND NAKAGAMI-RICE	
	DISTRIBUTIONS	106

LIST OF APPENDIXES

## Appendix

Participation of the second second

LIST OF REFERENCES

135

## xvii/xviii

Section 1

## SECTION 1

## INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

and the second second

In October 1978, the Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center (ECAC) Marine Corps Deputy Director requested that a study be made of the availability of models and data that could be used to estimate the impact of trees and underbrush on the propagation of radio waves. The information was desired to support the Marine Corps' requirement to determine the feasibility of using Joint Tactical Information Distribution System (JTIDS) terminals in support of land-based operations of the Fleet Marine Force (FMF). Material applicable to predicting the performance of other Marine radio systems in forest environments was to be collected also.

Persuant to this request, an effort was undertaken in FY79 during which 50 reports, journal articles, and texts were reviewed. Their contents fell into two broad categories -- available prediction models and available measurements.

Comparisons were made between predictions from the frequently cited exponential decay (EXD) propagation model and measurements. A large discrepancy was observed and reported to the ECAC Marine Office. It was agreed that a task could be carried out in FY80 to investigate solutions to this problem. As a result, an improved empirical algorithm, the modified exponential decay (MED) model, was developed.

The MED model was described in an abstract submitted to the United States National Committee of the International Union of Radio Science (URSI) in January 1980. The abstract was accepted and the paper presented at the North

American Radio Science Musting.<sup>1</sup> A formal document was prepared for the Marine Corps Development and Education Command later in the year.<sup>2</sup>

Subject to the limitations documented in References 1 and 2, the MED model was accepted by the Study Group 5 of the International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR).<sup>3</sup>

In FY81, the material in the Consulting Report (see Reference 2) was expanded and redocumented in the form of this Technical Report. The reasons for this action were as follows.

1. Readers of the Consulting Report had requested more evidence to support the conclusions in that document.

2. The acceptance of the MED model by the CCIR had led to a need for a report that described the basis and limitations of the model and that was accessible to the international radio-engineering community.

Weissberger, M. and Hauber, J., "Modeling the Increase in Loss Caused by Propagation Through a Grove of Trees," Program and Abstracts of the North American Radio Science Meeting, Quebec, Canada, 2-6 June 1980.

<sup>2</sup>Weissberger, M.A., <u>An Initial Critical Summary of Models for Predicting the</u> <u>Attenuation of Radio Waves by Foliage</u>, ECAC-CR-80-035, Electromagnetic <u>Compatibility Analysis Center</u>, Annapolis, MD, July 1980.

<sup>3</sup>International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), <u>Influence</u> of <u>Terrain Irregularities and Vegetation on Tropospheric Propagation</u>, Report 236-4 (MOD F), Doc. 5/5007-E, 7 September 1981.

Section 1

### 1.2 OBJECTIVE

The objective of this effort was to present an integrated description of the FY79-FY81 ECAC study of the effects of trees and underbrush on radio-wave propagation.

1.3 APPROACH

The information gathered during the study was organized into the remaining eight sections of this report.

Section 2 is a review of the models and data that can be used to predict the attenuation caused by propagation through (rather than ownr) grows of trees that are as deep as 400 meters. It is shown that the exponential decay (EXD) model, though generally assumed applicable to such problems, is often inaccurate. The MED model is presented as a means to overcome some of the problems with the EXD algorithm. Comparisons between MED predictions, EXD predictions, and measured data in the 230-MHz to 95-GHz frequency range are documented. An approximate rule for determining which antenna-tree geometries will be conducive to propagation through the trees (and MED applicability) is developed.

Section 3 is a summary of data relating to paths in which the trees are far enough from both antennas so that the waves diffract over the forest. The examples reported are in the 25-MHz to 5-GHz frequency range.

Section 4 contains a description of Kinase's model<sup>4</sup> for predicting the loss that occurs when one antenna is elevated well above the forest and the

<sup>4</sup>Kinase, A., Influences of Terrain Irregularities and Environmental Clutter Surroundings on the Propagation of Broadcasting Waves in the UHF and VHF Bands, NHK Technical Monograph No. 14, Japan Broadcasting Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, March 1969.

Section 1

t

second antenna is located in a region,  $\eta$  of which is covered with vegetation or man-made structures. The basis for the model is data in the 80-700 MHz band.

Section 5 is a description of the Jansky and Bailey<sup>5</sup> empirical model for computing the loss between two antennas immersed in a tropical jungle. Path lengths can vary from 0.08 to 1.6 km. The model applies to the 25-400 MKz band.

Section 6 contains a collection of plots of measured foliage attenuation versus frequency in the 2-MHz to 10-GHz range. Plots of attenuation versus distance and attenuation versus antenna height are shown for the 900-1200 MHz band.

Section 7 is a summary of information relating to the variation of signal strength with position that occurs when an antenna is moved through a forest. It is seen that, very often, a Rayleigh distribution can be used to categorize the variations.

Section 8 includes closed-form expressions for the bit-error rate that can be expected for FSK and PSK transmissions when the signal strength is Rayleigh distributed.

Section 9 is a summary of this report.

Differences between this report and the original Consulting Report include the following.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Jansky and Bailey Engineering Department, <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Volume 1, Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, 1966, AD660318.

Section 1

a. Additional data is presented to demonstrate that the lossversus-frequency trend is more accurately predicted by the MED model than by other models.

b. Quantitative evidence has been included to demonstrate that the Jansky and Bailey empirical model is a reasonably accurate means of predicting the attenuation of VHF signals coupled between low antennas separated by tropical foliage. Contrasts with another prediction procedure are also presented.

c. Summaries of three sets of measurements of the multipath-induced spatial variability of signal strength in nontropical forests are presented. These complement the tropical data in the original documentation.

d. A clearer presentation of the percentiles of the Nakagami-Rice distribution has been included. This is based on an earlier report by Norton.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>o</sup>Rice, P., Longley, A., Norton, K., and Barsis, A., <u>Transmission Loss</u> <u>Predictions for Tropospheric Communications Circuits</u>, NBS TN 101, National Bureau of Standards, Boulder, CO, Revised January 1967. 55D-TR-91-101

Section 2

## SECTION 2

## PREDICTING THE INCREASE IN LOSS CAUSED BY PROPAGATION THROUGH A GROVE OF TREES

## 2.1 THE EXPONENTIAL DECAY (EXD) MODEL: BACKGROUND

The traditional approach to modeling the additional loss caused by propagation through vegetation is to assume that this loss increases exponentially with the distance through the foliage.  $^{7,8,9,10,11}$  Thus, received power is calculated using:

$$P_r = \frac{P_t g_t g_r}{k_{bo}} e^{-\alpha_1 d_f}$$
(1)

where

P<sub>+</sub> = transmitted power, in watts

P<sub>2</sub> = received power, in watts

g<sub>t</sub> = transmitter antenna gain (ratio)

g, = receiver antenna gain (ratio)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Saxton, J.A. and Lane, J.A., "VHF and UHF Reception, Effects of Trees and Other Obstacles," <u>Wireless World</u>, May 1955.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>LaGrone, A.H., "Forecasting Television Service Fields," <u>Proceedings of the</u> IRE, June 1960.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Currie, N.C., Martin, E.E., and Dyer, F.B., <u>Radar Foliage Penetration</u> <u>Measurements at Millimeter Wavelengths</u>, ESS/GII-A-1485-TR-4, Georgia Institute of Tachnology, Atlanta, GA, 31 December 1975, ADA023838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), "Influence of Terrain Irregularities and Vegetation on Tropospheric Propagation," <u>Report 236-4</u>, <u>XIV Plenary Assembly</u>, International Telecommunication Union, Geneva, Switzerland, 1978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Krevsky, S., "HF and VHF Radio Wave Attenuation Through Jungle and Woods," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, July 1963.

Section 2

 $z_{bo}$  = basic transmission loss in the absence of foliage (ratio)

 $\alpha_1$  = differential attenuation due to foliage, in meter<sup>-1</sup>

 $d_e$  = distance through the foliage, in meters.

Equation 1 describes the flow of electromagnetic radiation through an infinite medium composed of either a lossy dielectric continuum or a collection of randomly located discrete lossy scatterers.<sup>12</sup> A variation of the equation was used by Bouguer in 1729 to describe the propagation of light through liquids.

In logarithmic units, Equation 1 becomes:

$$P_{R} = P_{T} + G_{R} + G_{R} - L_{bo} - \alpha d_{f}$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

where  $P_R$  and  $P_T$  are in dBW,  $G_T$  and  $G_R$  in dBi,  $L_{DO}$  in dB,  $d_f$  in meters, and a in dB/meter. a in Equation 2 is related to  $a_1$  in Equation 1 by:

$$a = a_1 \times 10 \log e = 4.34 a_1$$
 (3)

Values of  $\alpha$  can be obtained from measurements using:

$$\alpha = (L_1 - L_2)/d_{f} \tag{4}$$

where

 $L_1$  = the measured loss, in dB  $L_2$  = the measured loss on a comparable path without trees, in dB.

Therefore, the additional dB of attenuation due to the trees on the path is  $ad_f$ .

<sup>12</sup>Ishimaru, A., <u>Wave Propagation and Scattering in Random Media</u>, Academic Press, New York, NY, 1978.

Equations 1 and 2 describe a decay of the received signal (watts) due to trees (or an increase in the loss due to trees) that varies exponentially with  $d_f$  when a (and  $a_1$ ) do not vary with  $d_f$ . Nodels composed of Equation 1 (or 2) and a formula for  $a_1$  (or a) that does not contain  $d_f$  will be called exponential decay (EXD) models in this report. Subsection 2.2 contains examples of this type of model. In subsection 2.3, preliminary evidence is presented to show that for  $d_f \geq 15$  meters, a decreases with increasing  $d_f$  and, therefore, the EXD model is not valid here. An empirical "modified exponential decay" (NED) model, that accounts for this behavior of a, is described. In subsection 2.4, predictions from the NED and EXD models are shown in comparison with measured values. It is seen that the NED model is consistently more accurate.

#### 2.2 EXAMPLES OF EXPONENTIAL DECAY MODELS REPORTED IN THE LITERATURE

Saxton and Lane (see Reference 7) summarized groups of measurements taken by Saxton, Trevor, <sup>13</sup> and McPetrie<sup>14</sup> in nontropical deciduous woods. In TABLE 1, the subset of this data that relates to propagation through dry (i.e., not rained upon), in-leaf trees, is provided. Saxton used Equation 4 to compute values of  $\alpha$  and plotted them in a manner similar to that shown in Figure 1. LaGrone (see Reference 8) documented this analytical expression for Saxton's plot:

 $\alpha = 0.26 F^{0.77}$ 

(5)

<sup>13</sup>Trevor, B., "Ultra-High-Frequency Propagation Through Woods and Underbrush," <u>RCA Review</u>, July 1940.

<sup>14</sup>McPetrie, J.S. and Ford, L.H., "Some Experiments on the Propagation of 9.2-cm Wavelength, Especially on the Effects of Obstacles," <u>Journal of</u> <u>the IEE</u>, Part IIIa, London, England, 1946, p. 531.

Section 2

ł

100 and 1

MEASURED VALUES OF THE ANVITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE TO DRY TREES IN LEAP<sup>A</sup> TABLE 1

THE SAXTOH AND LANE DATA

Description of Trees	Deciduous with some pine, underbrush; in Europe	Deciduous with underbrush; near Philadelphia	Mostly deciduous; in England	Lime trees (deciduous); in England	Lime trees (deciduous); in England	Lime trees (deciduous); in England
Polarization	N H	N ≌ H	7 H	> #	N ≈ H	N ≥ H
a (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	0.06 0.03	0.12	6.20 0.13	0.25 0.15	0.35	0.41
Loss (dB)	Not Reported	18.0	17.0 15.0	6.0 3.6	8.4	<b>9</b> •8
Depth of Trees (m)	>200 >200	152	85 85	24 24	24	24
F (MHz )	100	500	540 540	540 540	1200	3260

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 7.

Section 2





3 33.45 . 6 . 2 . 2 . 2 . 2 . 2

ストーレービス・コースカー・ビーンタビアをおけていたいからいいたかい、たちましたであるためであるためとなります。

Section 2

a diff maximum second a second of

....

Section 2

where

 $\alpha$  = the differential attenuation, in dB/m

F = the frequency, in GHz.

Alternative values for a were published in ensuing years -- one by Krevsky in 1963 (see Reference 11), one in NE3 TN 101 (see Reference 6), another in a paper by Rice in 1971,<sup>15</sup> and a fourth in the CCIR Plenaryapproved reports (see Reference 10). Each is a form of the EXD model -- that is, a is presented as being independent of the depth of trees,  $d_f$ . To allow a compact presentation, quantitative examples of EXD predictions presented in the main body of this report will be based on LaGrone's equation. Studies of the alternate formulations are included in APPENDIX A.

#### 2.3 THE BASIS OF THE MED MODEL

The EXD model is based on the data in TABLE 1, which extends in frequency from 0.1 to 3.2 GHz and encompasses values of foliage depth  $(d_f)$  from 24 to 200 meters. As part of the ECAC study, predictions from the EXD model were compared with measurements (different from those within TABLE 1) that fell both within and beyond this range of frequency and  $d_f$ . One of the sets of measurements that fell within the parameter range was collected by Frankel<sup>16</sup> at several sites in west-central California. The data is listed in TABLE 2. Figure 2 is a comparison between EXD predictions ( $\alpha$  from Equation 5 times  $d_f$ ) and the measurements. It is seen that the agreement is poor with errors ranging as high as 43 dB. Comparisons with other sets of measurements, which will appear in later figures, showed similar problems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Rice, P.L., "Some Effects of Buildings and Vegetation on HF/UHF Propagation," <u>Conf. Proc. of the 1971 IEEE Mountain-West Conference on</u> <u>Electromagnetic Compatibility</u>, Tucson, AZ, November 1971.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Frankel, M.S., <u>L-Band Forest Experiments</u>, Packet Radio Temporary Note 254, SRI International, Menlo Park, CA, 19 May 1978.

TABLE 2

1 MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE TO DRY TREES IN LEAF<sup>A</sup>

FRANKEL'S DATA

Description of Trees	Oak, madrone, pine, redwcod. Dense underbrush. Dense tree tops. Average tree height = 10 m.	This data was taken in the area described above but along a different path.	Dense underbrush to 6 m. Tall redwood and fir trees penetrate this layer and extend to 26 m.	Dense underbrush composed of young eucalyptus trees. Average height is 6 m.
Polarization	>	>	>	>
α (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	0.24 0.21 0.17 0.17 0.13	0.18 0.16 0.13 0.14	0.18 0.18 0.19 0.19	0.24 0.19 0.14 0.15 0.15
Loss (dB)	12.2 12.5 15.0 16.7 20.0	9.4 9.5 12.0 -	9.0 10.7 16.3 18.9 28.9	12.1 11.5 13.0 14.5 24.6
Depth of Trees (m)	50 60 100 150	50 60 100	50 60 100 150	50 60 100 150
F (MHz )	1850	1850	1850	1850

See subsection 2.4.3 for a note on a fifth set of data that is in Reference 16 but not summarized here. <sup>a</sup>See Reference 16.

「日本」

「「「「」」、「」、「」」

Same and the second

ESD-TR-81-101

Section 2



## d, (METERS)

Figure 2. Graph illustrating the errors that may arise when the EXD model is used. The MED model, as will be shown, mitigates these problems. The frequency is 1850 MHz and the polarization is vertical. The x-axis of this graph is the product of frequency (F) in GHz and the depth of trees  $(d_f)$  in meters. This parameter was selected because the applicability of the EXD model can be more readily described in terms of ranges of F.  $d_f$ than it can be by individual ranges of F and  $d_f$ .

#### Section 2

A CARDON IN STREET

Section 2

#### ESD-TR-81-101

As early as 1958, Josephson<sup>17</sup> had observed that the EXD model was not applicable for prediction of loss through large depths of trees in temperate forests. However, he provided no substitute computational procedure. Reviews of the literature by this author and others<sup>10,18</sup> revealed that no one else had reported a successful alternative.<sup>a</sup> Therefore, the MED model was developed to mitigate the problems associated with the use of the EXD model. The MED model was first documented in an abstract submitted in January 1980 for a paper presented later in that year (see Reference 1). The development of this model will now be described.

Figure 2 demonstrates that use of the EXD model could result in substantial errors. Figure 3 shows one source of the problem -- namely that the measured differential attenuation,  $\alpha$ , decreases as the depth of trees increases. The EXD model is based on the assumption that  $\alpha$  is not a function of the depth of trees. Thus, if the attenuation rate measured at 50 meters,  $\alpha = 0.21$  dB/m, were used in the EXD model to predict the loss at 150 meters, the predicted value would be 32 dB. In contrast, the average measured loss at 150 meters is only 24 dB, corresponding to  $\alpha = 0.16$  dB/m.

A key step in developing the MED model was quantifying the decrease of a. The California data was not used to develop the actual MED equation, because it was limited to a single frequency. The Saxton and Lane data was unsuitable, because the measurements for each frequency were taken through a depth of trees different than the depth for any of the other frequencies.

- <sup>a</sup>Empirical and theoretical procedures were developed for the 1-400 MHz band for the problem of antennas separated by a <u>tropical jungle</u>. These procedures are discussed in Section 5 of this report.
- <sup>17</sup>Josephson, B. and Blomquist, A., "The Influence of Moisture in the Ground, Temperature and Terrain on Ground Wave Propagation in the VHF-Band," IRE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, April 1958.
- <sup>18</sup>Nelson, R.A., <u>UHF Propagation in Vegetative Media</u>, Final Report for Project 8998, SRI International, Menlo Park, CA, April 1980.



Section 2

Section 2

#### ESD-TR-81-101

Properly separating distance and frequency trends was, therefore, impractical. The data reported by McQuate in 1968<sup>19</sup> was chosen, because it covered a wide frequency range and allowed separation of frequency and distance trends. The data used is presented in TABLES 3 and 4.

Least-squares fitting of this data resulted in the following equation:<sup>a</sup>

α		$1.33      ^{0.284}        $	$14 \leq d_f \leq 400$	(6a)
	=	0.45 F <sup>0.284</sup>	$0 \leq d_f < 14$	(6b)

where

- $\alpha$  = the differential attenuation, in dB/m
- F = the frequency, in GHz
- $d_f$  = the depth of the trees, in m.

Combining Equation 6a with Equations 3 and 1 results in a formula with this form:

$$P_{r} = \frac{p_{t}g_{t}g_{r}}{l_{bo}} e^{-\alpha} 1^{(F,d_{f})d_{f}} = \frac{p_{t}g_{t}g_{r}}{l_{bo}} e^{-\alpha} 1^{'(F)d_{f}} f$$
(7)

In contrast to EXD models (in which  $a_1$  is not a function of  $d_f$ ), Equation 7 predicts an additional loss due to foliage that does not increase exponentially with  $d_f$  raised to the first power. Instead, the increase is less rapid. Equation 7 is called the MED model. Equations 6 and 2 comprise a logarithmic form of this model and are used to compute loss values in the rest of the section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>The distance limits and the equation for  $d_f < 14$  come from considerations explained later in the section.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>McQuate, P. L., et al., <u>Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Irregular</u> <u>Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part I; Gunbarrel Hill Receiver</u> <u>Site, ESSA TR ERL 65-ITS 58-1, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences</u> (ITS), Boulder, CO, March 1968.

TABLE 3

Section 2

:

-----

F (MHz)	Depth of Trees (m)	L088 (db)	α (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	Polarization	Description of Trees
	14	6.0	0.43	Ŧ	Cottonwood trees, 9 m tall.
		8.3	0.59		Detween the trees and the
910		6.8	0.49		closer antenna.
		7.0	0.50		
4595		1	ŀ		
9190		I	ł		
<u>_</u>	15	5° S	0.37	H	Cottonwood trees. 15 m tall.
		3.0	0.20		
		•	I		between the trees and the
		3.0	0.20		
1846		4.5	0.30		
		14.5	0.97		
· =*		25.5	1.70		
230	45	9.5	0.21	H	Cottonwood trees, 12 m tall.
		0.6	0.20		
		10.7	0.24		between the trees and the
910		16.0	0.36		closer antenna.
1846		17.7	0, 39		
		32.0	0.71		
		33.8	0.75		

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 19.

aPolarizationDescription of Trees(dB/m)				61	ŝ	þу	ín		all.	Ļ		6 m.				14 1	earing	, 0				
	Description of Trees	Dense cottonwood trees.	There is a 3-m clearing	between the trees and the	closer antenna. The tree	height was not reported by	McQuate; it is probably in	the 9-15 m range.	Cottcnwood trees, 12 m tall.	The clearing size was not	reported by McQuate but	appears to be less than (				Dense cottonwood trees,	tall. There is a 3-m cle	between the trees and the	closer antenna.			
<pre> (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m) (dB/m) (dB/m) (dB/m) (dB/m) (0.15 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.13 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.3</pre>	Polarization	H							H							Ŧ						
	α (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	0.15	0.22	0.18	0.18	0.51	0.23	0.30	0.17	0.36	0.41	0.12	0.33	0.22	0.35	0.13	0.16	0.12	0.14	0.21	0.35	0.51
	Depth of Trees (m)	60							60							16					-	
Depth of Trees (m) 60 91	F (MHz)	230	410	751	910	1846	4595	9190	230	410	751	910	1846	4595	9190	230	410	751	910	1846	4595	9190

TABLE 3 (Page 2 of 2)

19

Section 2

-

ŧ

MCQUATE'S MEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL ATTENUATION DUE TO DRY TREES IN LEAP<sup>4</sup>

TABLE 4

Depth	[logs	ಶ	Polarization	Description of Trees
of Trees (m)		(= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)		
14	<b>4.3</b>	0.31	Ŧ	Cottonwood trees, 9 m tall.
		0.62		There is a 12-m clearing
	7.7	0,55		between the trees and the
	7.0	0.50		closer antenna.
	3.0	0.21		
	1	1		
	•	ı		
15	ę. 0	0.40	Ŧ	Cottonwood trees. 15 - tall.
l	2.3	0,15	1	9-m clearing
	•	1		between the trees and the
	2.0	0.13		closer antenna.
	3.8	0.25		
	13.5	0*0		
	15.7	1.05		
45	10.3	0.23	æ	Cottonwood trees, 12 m tall.
	8.0	0,18		There is a 6-m clearing
	7.7	0.17		between the trees and the
	13.0	0.29		closer antenna.
	17.0	0.38		
	38.0	0.84		
	0 .B. 0	0.67		

Section 2

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 19.

A REAL POINT OF A REAL POINT O
			S
Description of Trees	Dense cottonwood trees. There is a 3-m clearing between the trees and the closer antenna. The tree height was not reported by McQuate; it is probably in the 9-15 m range.	Cottonwood trees, 12 m tall. The clearing size was not reported by McQuate but appears to be less than 6 m.	Dense cottonwood trees, 14 m tall. There is a 3-m clearing between the trees and the closer antenna.
Polarization	I	I	X
α (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	0.15 0.19 0.28 0.28 0.47 0.52 0.39	0.15 0.45 0.28 0.35 0.18 0.18	0,15 0.14 0.15 0.11 0.21 0.38 0.50
Loss (db)	8.7 11.2 16.5 14.0 28.0 31.0 23.5	9.2 26.8 17.0 24.0 23.0 23.0 22.0	13.5 12.7 13.5 10.0 18.7 34.5 45.5
Depth of Trees (m)	3	99	16
F (MHZ)	230 410 751 910 1846 4595 9190	230 410 751 910 1846 4595 9190	- 230 410 751 910 1846 4595 9190

TABLE 4 (Page 2 of 2) Section 2

Ľ,

Figures 4 through 7 illustrate how the trend of a versus distance predicted by Equation 6 compares with four sets of measurements. Figure 4 shows the trend of the means of the Colorado data. Good agreement is expected here because the model is based fully on this data. The EXD trend is shown for contrast. Figure 5 shows the comparison with the California data. The agreement is reasonably good, even though this data was not used in the development of the model. Figure 6 shows the comparison with measurements taken by the Hughes Aircraft Company in Florida at 400 MHz.<sup>20</sup> Again, the MED model predicts the general decrease of a with distance, as was measured. The EXD model does not.

Figure 7 shows the trend of a versus depth of trees measured by Currie<sup>9,21</sup> in Georgia at 9 and 16 GHz. It is seen that, at the short treedepths ( $0 \leq d_f \leq 14$ ) reported, the measured values of a actually increase slightly with increasing  $d_f$ . Possible reasons for this are discussed in subsection 1.5.2. Because of this observation and the lack of sufficient information to allow development of a general model for loss-versus-distance behavior at these short distances, the decreasing a-versus-distance trend of the MED model was modified for  $d_f < 14$  to predict a constant a-versus-distance trend (like the EXD model). This is reflected in Equation Gr.

# 2.4 VALIDATION OF THE MED MODEL

At end of the previous subsection it was demonstrated that the MED model predicted the trend of differential attenuation, q, versus distance more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Kivett, J.A. and Diederichs, P.J., <u>PLRS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Test</u> <u>Technical Report (Draft)</u>, FR 80-14-6, Hughes Aircraft Company, Fullerton, <u>CA</u>, January 1980.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Currie, N.C., Dyer, F.B., and Martin, E.E., "Millimeter Foliage Penetration Experiments," <u>1976 IEEE Antennas and Propagation Symposium Record</u>, Amherst, MA, 1976.





المحتجز والوالد الاختطاع فستخلط المحادة المالية والمناد والتلافية والمعادية والمعالية والمستعلمه

Section 2

والمستحدثة والمست

「日本に長いた



Section 2



17 7 1

the second state of

. . .

Section 2

1

and the second second second

ſ

المارية من من مارين مارين مارين. مركز معرفية من التوقيق المعادية المارين من من من مارين من من مارين من مارين من مارين من مارين من مارين مارين م

accurately than the EXD model. In this subsection, comparisons between predicted and measured values of the actual loss will be presented. Loss values for the MED model were computed by multiplying  $\alpha$  from Equation 6 by d<sub>f</sub>; EXD values were computed by multiplying the  $\alpha$  from Equation 5 by d<sub>f</sub>. Whereas in the previous comparisons normalization had been done to emphasize the relationship between predicted and measured <u>trend</u>, no such normalization was done in the comparisons shown in this section.

For each data set and each model, a root mean square (rms) error, in dB, is presented. These were computed using Equation 8:

$$rms error = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (E_i)^2}{\frac{1}{N}}}$$
(8)

where

- N = the number of measurements
- $E_i$  = the error in predicting the i<sup>th</sup> measurement, in dB
  - = loss prediction  $_i$  (dB) loss measurement  $_i$  (dB). (9)

# 2.4.1 The Saxton and Lane Data - Europe and Pennsylvania, 500-3200 MHz

Figure 8 illustrates the comparison between predictions of the two models and the Saxton and Lane measurements (see TABLE 1) made at frequencies higher than 500 MHz. The rms error of the EXD model is 4 dB. The rms error of the MED model is 2 dB. The fact that the MED model is even slightly more accurate than the EXD model when compared with these measurements is noteworthy, since the EXD model was actually based on this data, whereas the MED model was based on a completely independent set of data.



Predicted and measured losses for the Saxton and Lane data. Figure 8.

ESD-TR-81-101

and a star from and the second

Section 2

A Strategic Characterization

「「「「「「」」」」」

bund's fidebage date a set

Section 2

# 2.4.2 McQuate's Data - Colorado, 200 - 9200 MHz

Figures 9 through 12 show comparisons between model predictions and McQuate's Colorado measurements. The MED model was based on these measurements. TABLE 5 below summarizes the rms errors.

# TABLE 5

RMS ERRORS OBSERVED WHEN THE EXD AND MED MODEL PREDICTIONS WERE COMPARED WITH MCQUATE'S COLORADO DATA (230-9200 MHz)

Depth	RMS Error (dB)		
of Trees (m)	MED	EXD	
14-15	10	10	
45	7	13	
60	9	27	
91	6	37	

It may be noted that while the data used to develop the EXD model varied in frequency from 0.1 to 3.2 GHz and in  $d_f$  from 24 to 200, the product  $F \cdot d_f$ was always less than 100. In general, the prediction errors of the EXD model occur when  $F \cdot d_f$  is much greater than 100. These errors are a consistent prediction of more loss than was measured.

# 2.4.3 Frankel's Data - California, 1850 MHz

Comparisons between the predictions of the two models and Frankel's California measurements are shown in Figure 13. The rms error for the EXD model is 24 dB and for the MED model it is 7 dB.

Frankel reported measurements at a fifth site. This data is not shown in TABLE 2, nor is it reflected in Figure 2 or 13. The measurement site, Coyote Point Area 2, was covered only sparsely with trees that were separated somewhere between 3 and 5 meters with no intervening underbrush. The



# Section 2

out cutters

,

i i





Section 2

a sum second second







Section 2

•

attenuation measured through 150 meters of this sparse vegetation was only 12.8 dB. In contrast, the average attenuation due to 150 meters of foliage at Frankel's other four sites was 24.5 dB. The MED model prediction is 29.3 dB and the EXD model prediction is 62.6 dB. In summary, the MED model should not be used to estimate the loss caused by sparse vegetation, because it will overpredict. (The overprediction of the EXD model would be greater.)

# 2.4.4 The Hughes Aircraft Data - Florida, 400 MHz

TABLE 6 is a summary of the measurements taken by the Hughes Aircraft Company at two sites in Florida. The model predictions are shown in the same table. The data shown is an average of the data taken at these antenna height combinations: 6.4 - 6.7, 3.7 - 3.7, 1.8 - 1.8, 1.8 - 10.7, 1.8 - 6.7, 0.3 - 6.7, and 0.3 - 6.7 meters. For this data, the rms prediction error of the EXD model is 15 dB. For the MED model it is 8 dB.

Comparisons with measurements at tree depths larger than 400 meters showed that the MED model consistently overpredicted loss. Since the equation was based on data taken for tree depths less than 100 meters, inaccurate behavior at much longer distances is not unexpected. The EXD model was less accurate than the MED model at the large distances.

Comparisons were made with measurements taken at a third Florida site, Basin Bayou, where the tree density was much less than at the other two sites -- 5.1 m<sup>2</sup> of trunk area per acre<sup>a</sup> versus 7.4 and 10.2. Both the EXD and MED equations overpredicted the loss at this site.

35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Some physical insight into the meaning of these values may be gained by noting that in another Hughes report, the Basin Bayou area is described as one in which the vegetation was sparse enough so that you could walk through it easily and ride through it, with care, on a two-wheeled vehicle. In the area with the 10.2-m<sup>2</sup> trunk area density, walking would be difficult and riding not possible.

TABLE 6

# COMPARISON BETWEEN THE HUGHES AIRCRAFT FLORIDA MEASUREMENTS

-SNO		
AND PREDICTIONS		

Site Description		Peel Airfield, Plorida. Slash Dine of madium density with light	underbrush. Tree trunk density = 7.4 m <sup>2</sup> /acre. Tree height = 9.8-12.2 m	Duke Airfield, Florida. Chocta- whatchee sand pine, some oak.	Tree trunk density = 10.2 m <sup>2</sup> /acre (very dense). Tree height = 9.1-10.7 m.
	EXD Prediction <sup>d</sup>	4.7	46.7	25.6	48.8
Loss (dB)	MED Prediction	14.5	32.9	23.1	33.1
	Mean Measured <sup>b</sup>	16.4 (9-231C	35.9 (19-41) <sup>C</sup>	18.0 (17-20) <sup>C</sup>	31.1 (29-39) <sup>c</sup>
Depth of Trees (m)		66-16	364-371	200-203	380386
F (MHZ)		400		400	-

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 20. <sup>b</sup>Vertical pclarization. <sup>c</sup>values in parentheses are extremes of measured values. <sup>d</sup>The rms prediction error of the EXD model is 15 dB. It is 8 dB for the MED model.

į

the setting of the

t

۱<sub>:</sub>

. . . . .

ESD-TR-81-101

ومقدمية والمتعامية المتعاطية ومطلبته والمتعادية والمعادية

- In transferding data

Section 2

Restrictions on the use of the NED model that have been derived from these and other observations are summarized in subsection 2.6.

# 2.4.5 The Georgia Institute of Technology Data - Georgia, 9.4-95.0 GHz

Currie (see References 9 and 21) reported measurements of the attenuation caused by propagation through deciduous (oak, dogwood, hickory, sweetgum, maple) in-leaf trees, and coniferous (young pine) trees in northern Georgia. TABLE 7 summarizes his results. Currie's data was taken with a radar and reflector. His values of the measured loss have been revised here to account for the assumption that the attenuation for a normal communications link would be one-half of the value measured with a radar. Furthermore, the depth-oftree values have been revised under the assumption that a straight line between the two antennas would intercept branches along 50% of its length. In his reports, Currie endorses these approximations.

The predictions of the two models are shown in TABLE 7. The rms error of the EXD model is 14 dB while the error of the MED model is 2 dB. It may be noted that Saxton and Lane never recommended use of their empirical model at frequencies greater than 3.2 GHz. However, it was used as a basis for comparison in this 9.4 - 95.0 GHz study, because other authors (see References 9 and 21) have recommended it for use in this range.

# 2.4.6 Summary of Subsection 2.4

Comparisons of measurements and predictions from the MED and EXD models have shown that the MED model is consistently more accurate than the EXD model. Rms errors of the MED model were (from highest to lowest) 10, 9, 8, 7, 7, 6, 2, and 2 dB. For the EXD model the rms errors were 10, 27, 15, 24, 13, 37, 14, and 4 dB. The measurements all involved blockage of at least one antenna by dry (i.e., not rained upon), dense groves of trees that were either in-leaf deciduous or evergreen. The depth of the groves ranged from 2 to 400 meters. The vegetation was the type found in mid-latitude wooded areas.

Section 2

# TABLE 7

Frequency (GHz)	Depth of Trees (m)		Type of Loss	
	5	10	14	(dB)
9.4	4.5	9.8	14.5	Measured
	4.2	8.5	11.9	MED Prediction
	7.4	14.7	20.6	EXD Prediction
16.2	6.3	13.5	NAª	Measured
	4.9	9.9	NA	MED Prediction
	11.1	22.2	NA	EXD Prediction
35.0	8.8	NA	NA	Measured
	6.2	NA	NA	MED Prediction
	20.0	NA	NA	EXD Prediction
95.0	10.3	NA	NA	Measured
	8.2	NA	NA	MED Prediction
	43.3	NA	NA	EXD Prediction

# COMPARING MILLIMETER WAVE MEASUREMENTS WITH PREDICTED LOSS VALUES

<sup>a</sup>Not available.

The rms error of the MED model for this set of data is 2 dB and of the EXD model it is 14 dB.

Source of measurements: References 9 and 21.

Polarization: Vertical and horizontal were approximately equal.

Description of trees: Deciduous (oak, dogwood, hickory, sweetgum, maple) and coniferous (young pine), North Georgia.

There were three paths for which the MED model, while more accurate than the EXD model, could not be described as being applicable. One involved tree depths greater than 400 meters, and the other two involved sparse vegetation. Further, no attempt was made to compare the model with measurements taken at frequencies lower than 200 MHz.

# 2.5 FURTHER DISCUSSION OF THE MED MODEL

It has been demonstrated that the MED model is a worthwhile problemsolving tool. Further discussion on the basis of the MED model follows. The topics addressed are:

a. The mode of propagation that is described by the MED model (subsection 2.5.1)

b. The reasons for the loss-versus-distance dependence of the MED model (subsection 2.5.2)

c. The justification of the frequency-dependence of the MED predictions (subsection 2.5.3)

d. The justification of the lack of polarization dependence of the MED model (subsection 2.5.4).

# 2.5.1 The Mode of Propagation Described by the MED Model

In subsection 2.4, it is demonstrated that the modified exponential decay (MED) model provides a reasonably accurate description of five sets of measurements. In this subsection, supplementary information concerning three of these sets will be presented to demonstrate that the measurements represent instances of propagation (at least initially) through the forest rather than over the forest. This conclusion is used in subsection 2.6 to help define antenna-forest geometries to which the MED model is applicable.

In the Hughes Aircraft Florida (see Reference 20) measurement program, antennas were placed initially (see Figure 14) at opposite ends of a 400-meter grove of trees. Then both antennas were moved away from the trees until

39

Section 2



Figure 14.

An experiment at 400 MHz (see Reference 20) demonstrating that a particular propagation path starts through the trees rather than over them. If the path started over the trees, increasing the clearing size would have decreased the loss. This does not occur. Since the MED model does predict the measured loss ( $\pm$  4 dB), this constitutes evidence that the MED model applies to geometries in which the energy flow is, for the part of the ray path nearest to an antenna, through the trees.

40-meter clearings existed at each end of the grove. The loss did not change as the antennas were moved. Had the majority of the energy been propagating over the trees, then the loss would have been reduced by at least 6 dB when the antennas were moved away. This is because the angle over the tree tops through which the rays would have had to diffract would have been significantly reduced as the clearings were enlarged. Since no reduction in loss was observed, this constitutes evidence that the energy propagated primarily through the trees. Signal transit-time measurements taken by Hughes Aircraft confirm this conclusion.

In the California study, Frankel (see Reference 16) changed the mainbeam orientation of the 15-dBi antennas used in the measurements. The greatest received power was achieved when the horns were aimed at each other. Tilting the antennas towards the top of the trees caused a decrease in the received power. Again, this is evidence that the majority of the energy propagated through the vegetation.

The third set of measurements germane to this discussion is the one reported by Saxton and Lane (see Reference 7). Saxton and Lane compared the measured attenuations with the attenuations predicted by diffraction theory. They concluded that the measurements were of propagation through the trees.

Because the MED model provided fairly accurate predictions (rms errors of 8, 7, and 2 dB) of these three sets of measurements, it is reasonable to assume that the MED model describes propagation in which the antenna-forest geometry is such that the power flow is, for the part of the ray path nearest to the an antenna, through the forest.

# 2.5.2 Notes on the Loss-Versus-Distance Trend

Figures 3 through 6 illustrate that for depths of trees  $(d_f)$  greater than about 15 meters, the differential attenuation,  $\alpha$ , in dB/meter, decreases as  $d_f$ increases. A review of theory (see Reference 12) indicates that this type of behavior does not generally describe propagation through an infinite medium -whether it is filled with discrete scatterers or a lossy-dielectric

Section 2

continuum. Therefore, it is likely that the decreasing  $\alpha$  is due to the finite size of the region that offers the largest attenuation per meter.

It appears that this region of large attenuation per meter is the volume filled densely with in-leaf (or in-needle) branches. Three cases can be cited here to support this statement. One is Frankel's (see Reference 16) vertical polarization data at 1850 MHz. He measured attenuation at a site where there were only bare trunks between the two antennas. Loss values for 60-90 meter tree depths averaged 8 dB for this area in contrast to the 13-dB average for the areas with foliage. Figure 15 illustrates the second case. Here it is seen that as the height of a tree-obstructed antenna is lowered from the branchy region (~ 8 meters) to the bare-trunks region below the branches, the attenuation decreases by 20 dB. In subsection 2.7, data is summarized indicating that the attenuation decreases when leaves fall from the branches. This data constitutes the third case.

Therefore, there are regions of lower loss on top of (i.e., free space) and beneath (i.e., the bare trunk region) the high loss region. It is possible that while the ray path starts in the lossy region of the trees nearest to the antenna, a fraction of the path is in the lower loss regions. As  $d_f$  increases, the fraction grows larger and, therefore, the average value of  $\alpha$ for the path decreases. The MED model is an empirical description of this decrease.

Kivett's (see Reference 20) 400-MHz measurements involved transit time as well as attenuation. He noted that when the antenna height was lowered from above to below the tree tops, the transit time of the dominant signal increased. This suggests that, for his data, the low-loss route was across the top of the trees.

A formal theoretical explanation of this behavior is not presently available for frequencies greater than 200 MHz. (The lateral-wave model provides one possible explanation for frequencies below 200 MHz and for very dense tropical forests. See Section 5 of this report.)

scenerous budge amounts in

Section 2





Figure 15. An example of the loss caused by propagation through bare trunks being lower than the loss through the branchy region: 9190 MHz, horizontal polarization.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>22</sup>McQuate, P.L., Harman, J.M., and McClanahan, M.E., <u>Tabulations of</u> <u>Propagation Data Over Irregular Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range,</u> <u>Part IV: Receiver Site in Grove of Trees</u>, OT/TRER 19, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, October 1971.

Figure 7 (in subsection 2.3) shows that at very short depths of trees ( $d_f$ < 14 meters),  $\alpha$  increases with  $d_{e^{\alpha}}$ . There are two questions to be answered here. First, why does a not decrease with distance? Second, why does a increase with distance? A reasonable answer to the first question is that at the short distances represented in this data, the geometry was not conducive to energy propagating over the top of or underneath the branchy region. This is because these "external" ray paths would have been appreciably longer than the direct ray path. Also, the scattering angle would have been steeper. A possible answer to the second question is that the propagation of energy was taking place through diffusion -- a type of multiple scattering. This phenomenon, according to Ishimaru (see Reference 12), takes place when waves propagate through random scatters that occupy more than about 1% of the total volume. This volume quideline will be met often in forest environments. The effective value of a will increase to an asymptotic value if diffusion is the type of propagation. Diffusion effects may not have been noticed in the Colcrado, California, Florida, and Saxton and Lane data sets, because at the larger distances involved in these measurements, two things occur.

- 1. The difference between the value of  $\alpha$  at a specific distance and the asymptotic value of  $\alpha$  becomes theoretically smaller as distance increases.
- The leakage of energy around the densely foliated area could have been enough at the larger distances to dominate the trend of α versus distance.

Another answer to the second question is that for small groves of trees, there were openings in the foliage through which the small wavelength signals could propagate with almost no attenuation.

To reduce errors caused by extrapolation of the decreasing- $\alpha$ -withdistance trend in Equation 6a, the MED model was modified so that  $\alpha$  is computed as being independent of  $d_f$  for  $d_f < 14$  meters. This behavior is represented in Equation 6b.

Section 2

# 2.5.3 Justification of the Loss-Versus-Frequency Trend of the MED Model

The MED model was developed as an empirical means of accounting for the observed dependence of differential attenuation on distance. Comparison of MED Equation 6 with EXD Equation 5 shows that the former predicts that loss will increase with frequency according to  $F^{0.284}$ , whereas the latter indicates an increase proportional to  $F^{0.770}$ . Figure 16 illustrates the trends. The magnitude of the difference between these relations can be better appreciated by noting that the MED equation predicts that the loss due to foliage at 4000 MHz will be 130% larger than the loss at 200 MHz. The EXD equation predicts that the increase and which is the more realistic model. A hypothesis supporting the MED model is presented. Empirical verification for the hypothesis follows.

It appears that the loss-versus-frequency trend predicted by the EXD model is inaccurate because of the nature of the data on which it was based. This data is the Saxton and Lane measurement set which appears in TABLE 1 of this report. An examination shows that the higher frequency data was measured through smaller tree depths, in general, than was lower frequency data. The effective a's computed from this data were larger at the high frequencies for two reasons. First, the loss due to a fixed amount of foliage becomes greater, in general, as frequency increases. Second, at a fixed frequency, the dB/meter due to a small grove of trees is more than the dB/meter due to a large grove. This is because, as has just been suggested, when the tree depth increases, a higher percentage of energy propagates outside the highly attenuating branchy region. Thus, since tree depth was not considered in the development of EXD Equation 5, the empirically determined exponent of F carried the weight of two different phenomena. It appears that the developers of Equation 5 would have arrived at a smaller (and more generally applicable) value of the exponent of F if they had had access to measurements of signals at many frequencies propagating through a single depth of trees.

Section 2



FREQUENCY IN MHz

The trends of a vs frequency for the Saxton-Figure 16. Lane-LaGrone EXD model and the MED model. The expression of the EXD model predicts that loss will increase 900% between 200 and 4000 MHz. The MED model predicts a 130% rise over this range. Data studied indicate that the MED model is more accurate.

(Another convributing factor to the discrepancy between the two relationships is the fact that they were developed from data in different frequency ranges. The EXD relations were developed from data at frequencies as low as 100 MHz. The MED relation is based on data at 230 MHz and above. There is some evidence that  $F^{0.77}$  is an appropriate relationship at frequencies of 100 MHz and below.<sup>23,24</sup>)

Figures 17 through 20 represent empirical support for the hypothesis that, at frequencies from 150 MHz to 95 GHz, the trend of loss versus frequency is better described by  $F^{0.284}$  than  $F^{0.770}$ . A quantitative summary of these figures is provided in TABLE 8. These rms errors were computed using Equation 8. However, each error,  $E_i$ , is defined as a percentage using Equation 10 below:

$$E_{i}(x) = \frac{\text{Predicted loss (dB)} - \text{Measured loss (dB)}}{\text{Measured loss (dB)}} \times 100x \quad (10)$$

Use of percentages prevented the high-frequency (and high attenuation) part of the data from playing an unduely large role in determining the overall error statistics.

A comparison between the  $F^{0.234}$  trend of the MED model and frequency trends recommended by other authors (see References 6, 10, 11, and 15) is provided in APPENDIX A.

# 2.5.4 Justification of the Lack of Polarization-Dependence of the MED Model

The measurements taken by McQuate that form the basis of the MED model were of horizontally polarized signals. It also appears that the model provides a reasonable estimate of the attenuation of vertically polarized signals in mid-latitude woods within the 200 MHz to 95 GHz band. This subsection contains a summary of the observations supporting this statement.

47

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Hagn, G.H., <u>SRI Special Technical Report 19</u>, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, January 1966, AD484239.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Hagn, G.H., <u>Research Engineering and Support for Tropical Communications</u>, SRI, Manlo Park, CA, 1 September 1962, AD889169.



Figure 17. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured values of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 26%. The error of the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone model is 54%.

Section 2

the second s



Figure 18. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured value of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 24%. The error of the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone model is 76%.



Figure 19. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured value of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 7%. The error of the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone model is 51%. Each plotted measurement was computed from Horwitz's (Reference 25) curves as follows: Additional loss due to foliage = 1/2 (loss inside mangroves + loss behind mangroves - 2 x loss in front of mangroves).

# Section 2

5



Figure 20. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured value of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 16%. The error of the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone model is 39%.

Section 2

# TABLE 8

# A COMPARISON OF THE RMS ERRORS OF THE MED AND SAXTON-LANE-LAGRONE EXD MODELS WHEN THEY ARE USED TO PREDICT LOSS-VERSUS-FREQUENCY TRENDS

	Models Used		
Data Description	MED	Saxton-Lane- LaGrone (EXD)	
Deciduous forest, Colorado, 200-4500 MHz, horizontal polarization, d <sub>f</sub> = 14-15 m	26%	54%	
As above, $d_f = 60 m$	24	76%	
Mangroves, Australia, <sup>25</sup> 150-1500 MHz, vertical polarization, d <sub>f</sub> unknown	78	518	
Deciduous and coniferous woods, Georgia, 9-95 GHz both polarizations, d <sub>f</sub> = 4-6 m	16%	398	
	Rms Error of Predicted Trend		

<sup>25</sup>Horwitz, C.M., "Optimization of Radio Tracking Frequencies," <u>IEEE</u> <u>Transactions on Antennas and Propagation</u>, May 1979.

Section 2

These include:

1. The model predicts the measurements of vertically polarized signals made by Hughes at 400 MHz (see TABLE 6) and by SRI at 1850 MHz (see Figure 13).

2. The Georgia Institute of Technology researchers observed no difference between the actenuation of the two polarizations in the 9.5-95 GHz band (see Reference: 9 and 21).

3. Saxton and Lane's data summary (see TABLE 1) shows only a 2-dB difference between the polarizations at 540 MHz. The 500 and 1200 MHz data showed no differences.

4. Hughes' measurements<sup>26</sup> at 1 GHz showed that the average difference between vertical and horizontal polarization was 1.5 dB.

As frequency decreases, the difference between the attenuation of the two polarizations increases (see, for example, the 100-MHz data in TABLE 1). This is one reason that it is not recommended that the MED model be used at frequencies less than 200 MHz.

2.6 SUMMARY OF NOTES ON THE APPLICABILITY OF THE MED MODEL

# 2.6.1 Frequency and Depth-of-Trees Criteria

Figure 21 shows the frequency and depth-of-trees combinations for which Equation 6 (the MED model) has been shown to give reasonably accurate results (rms error 10 dB or less). The model will predict too much loss if the depth of trees is greater than 400 meters or if the frequency is below 200 MHz.

<sup>26</sup>Hughes Aircraft Company, <u>Final Report - JTIDS Ground Foliage Propagation</u> Tests, Technical Report FR-80-16-503, Fullerton, CA, April 1980.

Section 2



Figure 21. Observed range of applicability of the MED model for temperate forests.

Section 2

# 2.6.2 Clearing-Size Criteria

In subsection 2.5.1, it was demonstrated that the MED model applied to problems in which the flow of power was primarily through the forest rather than over the forest. Section 3 of this report will present diffraction models<sup>27,28,29</sup> that apply to the problem of propagation over the forest. This subsection is a discussion of guidelines for determining which type of algorithm is applicable.

The general guidance for predicting which algorithm should be used is this: the MED model will be applicable to problems in which one or both antennas are very near to groves of trees that are less than 400 meters deep. The diffraction model will be applicable to problems in which both antennas are separated by a large clearing from a large grove of trees.

The most accurate approach to determine applicability is to compute the loss using both methods. The more appropriate method is that which results in the lower estimated loss for the particular problem.

A preliminary estimate of the result may be obtained by considering the types of problems for which the MED model has been found to be accurate in the past and the types of problems for which diffraction models have been shown to be accurate. The clearing size is a parameter which can be used to describe the different problems. The measure of clearing size that will be used in this discussion is the take-off angle from the antenna that is nearest the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Head, H.R., "The Influence of Trees on Television Field Strengths at Ultra-High Frequencies," Proceedings of the IRE, June 1960.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>LaGrone, A.H., "Propagation of VHF and UHF Electromagnetic Waves Over a Grove of Trees in Full Leaf," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, November 1977.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Meeks, M.L., "A Low-Angle Propagation Experiment Combining Reflection and Diffraction," <u>1979 International Antennas and Propagation Symposium Digest</u>, 18-22 June 1979.

trees to the tops of the trees. When one of the antennas is immersed in the foliage, for example, this angle will be 90°. As both antennas are moved farther away from the forest, this angle will approach 0°.

TABLE 9 is a list of problems that have been accurately described by either the MED model or by a diffraction model. This table may be summarized as follows -- between 230 and 9190 MHz, MED was the only model to satisfactorily describe loss behavior when at least one of the antennas was close enough to the trees so that the take-off angle from it to the top of the trees was in the 26°-90° range. Each of these two types of models was found to have some application for problems in the 8°-26° range. Only the diffraction models were applicable in the  $0^c-8^\circ$  range.

For completeness, it can be noted that there are cases where combinations of propagation through, and diffraction over the trees both take place. In fact, the diffraction model procedures described in Section 3 are actually combination models. They use effective antenna heights which are less than the physical tree heights to account for the fact that there is some propagation through the upper parts of the trees at the edge of the

# TABLE 9

# MEASUREMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN ACCURATELY DESCRIBED BY EITHER THE MED MODEL OR A DIFFRACTION MODEL

Author	Reference No.	Frequency (MHz)	Clearing size (Take-off Angle, deg)	Better Model <sup>a</sup>
McQuate	19	230 - 9190	9° - 66°	MED
Kivett	21	400	8° - 90°	MED
Frankel	16	1850	90°	MED
Head	27	485	0 - 26°	υ
LaGrone	28	82 - 2950	0 - 12°	D
Meeks	29	1090	3°	D

<sup>d</sup>MED = Mcdified exponential decay; propagation through the trees.

D = Diffraction (knife-edge or spherical); propagation over the trees.
clearing. Longley<sup>30</sup> and the Hughes<sup>26</sup> researchers proposed their own techniques for combining "propagation over" and "propagation through" models. Studies have not been conducted yet to determine which of the two models is more accurate.

#### 2.6.3 Trunk-Density Criteria

The MED model applies to problems in which the ray path is blocked by a dense grove of trees. It was observed (subsection 2.4) that the model was applicable to the Florida data when the trunk density was 7.4 to  $10.2 \text{ m}^2/\text{acre}$  but not for cases in which the density was  $5.1 \text{ m}^2/\text{acre}$ . This was investigated as the basis for developing a quantitative definition of "dense." Using data reported by Doeppner,<sup>31</sup> calculations were done of the approximate trunk density in a wet-dry tropical forest. A value of  $3.3 \text{ m}^2/\text{acre}$  was obtained. Since, as will be shown in subsection 2.7.1 of this report, the attenuation in this type of tropical forest is much larger than in the temperate forests discussed previously, it does not appear that trunk-area density by itself is a useful indicator of the regions where MED Equation 6 will apply. The amount of underbrush, actual number of trunks per unit area, crientation of branches, meisture content of the wood, and type of leaves are all factors of potential significance in determining the general applicability of an MED equation.

Further data related to the correlation between trunk density and loss is provided by Presnell.<sup>32,33</sup>

- <sup>30</sup>Longley, A.G. and Hufford, G.A., Sensor Path Loss Measurements Analysis and Comparison with Propagation Models, OTR-75-74, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, October 1975.
- <sup>31</sup>Doeppner, T.W., Hagn, G.H., and Sturgill, L.G., "Electromagnetic Propagation in a Tropical Environment," Journal of Defense Research, Winter 1972.
- <sup>32</sup>Preshell, P.I., PLRS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Measurements, SRI Project 8171, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, June 1980.
- <sup>33</sup>Presnell, R.I., JTIDS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Measurements, SRI Project 8171, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, June 1980.

Section 2

#### 2.6.4 Antenna-Height Criteria

Since leakage over and under the branchy region of the trees plays a role in determining loss, factors such as antenna height, tree height, and structure of the treas will also affect the loss. At present, there is not enough data to allow development of a general model to account for these factors.

Further data related to the correlation between antenna height and loss in a temperate forest is presented in the Hughes studies (see References 20 and 26).

#### 2.6.5 Polarization Criteria

In light of the discussion in subsection 2.5.4, it is reasonable to recommend the use of the MED model for both horizontal and vertical polarization predictions.

### 2.7 SUPPLEMENTARY MEASUREMENTS OF THE LOSS CAUSED BY PROPAGATION THROUGH A GROVE OF TREES

In the preceding parts of Section 2, data has been presented which pertains to the attenuation caused by propagation through groves of dry, inleaf trees in temperate mid-latitude forests. In this subsection, measurements of the loss caused by propagation through groves of trees under other circumstances are cited.

#### 2.7.1 Tropical-Forest Data

Jansky and Bailey researchers (see Reference 5) determined that propagation through short (< 80 meters) distances in a Pak-Chong, Thailand, jungle could be described by the EXD model, Equation 2. At these distances in the 50-400 MHz band, it was found that  $L_{bo}$  was  $L_{bfs}$ , the free-space

transmission loss. Measured values of  $\alpha$  are listed in TABLE 10. The vertical polarization data from TABLE 10 is plotted in Figure 22; the horizontal data is plotted in Figure 23. For comparison, Equation 6 is plotted as a dashed line. It is seen that the jungle attenuation is 2 to 5 times larger than the temperate-forest data represented by the equation.

(It is possible that an analysis of the raw Jansky and Bailey data would show that a form of the MED model would be more accurate than the EXD model. Such a study was beyond the scope of this effort. However, it can be noted that the Jansky and Bailey researchers only recommended use of the EXD relation for distances small enough so the  $F \cdot d_f$  was less than 32. Figures 8 through 13 indicate that for this range, the MED model is not significantly better than the EXD model -- at least in temperate forests.)

#### TABLE 10

F (MHz)	Depth of Trees (m)	a (= Loss/Depth) (dB/m)	Polarization	Description of Trees <sup>34</sup>
50	10 < d <sub>f</sub> < 80	0.0	V ≅ H	Leafy jungle with heavy undergrowth. Median
100	10 < d <sub>F</sub> < 80	0.39	v	tree diameter is 10 cm.
	L	0.17	н	Mean separation between trees is 1.3 m. Total
250	10 < d <sub>f</sub> < 80	0.43	v	number of trees is
	I	0.22	н	362 per acre. This is a semi-dry tropical
400	10 < d <sub>f</sub> < 80	0.48	v	forest. Annual average
		0.30	н	temperature is 80.7° F. Average annual rainfall is 63 inches.

#### EXPERIMENTAL VALUES OF a FOR & TROPICAL FOREST

#### 59

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>Hicks, J.J., et al., <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Vol. II, Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, November 1969, p. 10. (See also Reference 31, p. 370, and Reference 5, p. 29.)

1996 - 1997 - 1997 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 - 1998 -

. ......

10.11 C. P. P.



# Figure 22. Differential attenuation due to foliage -- tropical jungle and vertical polarization.



Figure 23. Differential attenuation due to foliage -tropical jungle and horizontal polarization.

The Jansky and Bailey researchers reported that losses at tree depths greater than 80 meters were less than the EXD model predicted. Section 5 of this report summarizes behavior at these larger distances in the tropical forest.

Section 5 of this report also includes a validation of the Jansky and Bailey empirical model. Although no comparisons were made with data taken at distances less than 80 meters, there were comparisons made with data in the 100-160 meter range. The values of a from TABLE 10 still play a significant role in determining the predicted loss at these distances. A total of eight, 100-160 meter tropical-forest measurements taken at three sites (none of them Pak Chong) were compared with the Jansky and Bailey empirical model predictions. The mean error was -1.3 dB; the rms error was 8 dB. Thus, the values of a shown in TABLE 10 appear to provide reasonable accuracy for predicting attenuation at short distances in tropical forests at Pak Chong and at other sites.

#### 2.7.2 Leafless-Tree Data

Trevor (see Reference 8) found that the attenuation caused by 152 meters of leafless deciduous trees with underbrush at 500 MHz was 15 dB for vertical polarization and 12 dB for horizontal polarization. In contrast, the attenuation for this same grove with leaves was 18 dB for both polarizations. The corresponding effective  $\alpha$  were 0.10 and 0.08 dB/meter without leaves and 0.12 dB/meter with leaves.

At 250 MHz, Trevor found that the attenuation through the same grove of leafless trees was 14 dB for the vertical polarization and 10 dB for horizontal polarization. No data at this frequency was taken for the trees in leaf. However, for comparison, it may be noted that the MED equation

Section 2

indicates a loss of 17 dB due to in-leaf trees at this value of frequency and depth of trees. Sofaer and Bell<sup>35</sup> reported the data listed in TABLE 11.

#### TABLE 11

Description Pol. Additional Loss (dB) Freq. Few Leaves Of Trees (MHz) In Leaf ~0 ~0 50 V Large Grove 200 V 9 5 750 19 15 н 50 ~0 ~0 v Single Row 200 V 3 ~0 750 Н 5.5 3

LOSS DUE TO IN-LEAF TREES VERSUS LEAFLESS TREES

The Federal Communications Commission (FCC) reported<sup>36</sup> that the additional loss caused by leaves was 4.5 dB at 450 and 950 MHz. Values of the depth of trees and of the comparable loss without any trees were not reported. More data with these limitations appears in Reference 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Sofaer, E. and Bell, C.P., "Factors Affecting the Propagation and Reception of Broadcasting Signals in the UHF Bands," <u>Proceedings of the IEE</u>, London, England, July 1966.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), <u>Methods and Statistics</u> for Estimating Field-strength Values in the Land Mobile Services Using the Frequency Range 30 MHz to 1 GHz, Doc. USSG 5/D-11, 1981 (Submitted by the FCC).

Section 2

#### 2.7.3 Data for Trees After a Rainstorm

The attenuation caused by propagation through a grove of trees that is wet from rain is an important factor in determining system performance. Only a small amount of data has been reported. This includes the following.

a. At 400 MHz, rain on 1000 meters of trees increased the attenuation by 4 dB (see Reference 20).

b. At 1000 MHz, rain on 200 meters of trees increased the loss by 20 dB at low antenna heights. When the antennas were raised so that the energy propagated across the top of the forest, the loss did not change when it rained (see Reference 26).

c. The increase in loss in the 9.4-95 GHz band varied from 14 to 50 dB. TABLE 12 is a summary of this data (see Reference 9).

#### TABLE 12

F : (GHz)	Loss Due to Foliage (dB)		Polarizatio	n Description	Depth of Trees (m)
	Wet	Dry			(Approximate)
9.4	19.0	4.5	V ≅ H	Deciduous trees (oak, dogwood,	5
16.2	25.5	6.3	V≅H	hickory, sweet- gum, maple);	5
35.0	30.9	8.8	V≅н	North Georgia.	5
95.0	60.6	10.3	V≅н		5

#### THE ATTENUATION DUE TO WET TREES IN LEAF

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 9, Figures 21 and 22.

Section 2

#### 2.8 SUMMARY OF SECTION 2

If a transmitted signal propagates through a grove of trees  $d_f$  meters deep, the mean received power can be estimated with this equation:

$$P_{R} = P_{T} + G_{T} + G_{R} - L_{bo} - \alpha d_{f}$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

It has been shown, that for propagation through the branchy region of dry temperate forests with trees in leaf, the attenuation coefficient,  $\alpha$ , can be computed by this MED equation:

$$\alpha = 1.33 F^{0.284} d_f^{-0.412} \qquad 14 \le d_f \le 400$$
(6a)  
= 0.45 F^{0.284} \qquad 0 \le d\_f \le 14 (6b)

Equation 6 was developed from measurements of the attenuation caused by propagation through deciduous trees in Colorado. Comparisons with measurements demonstrated that this equation is more accurate than the commonly reported EXD equation:

$$\alpha = 0.26 \, \mathrm{F}^{0.77} \tag{5}$$

The data examined in the comparison was taken in England, Pennsylvania, California, Georgia, Florida, and Colorado

The MED equation was shown to be applicable in the 230 MHz to 95 GHz<sup>a</sup> frequency range and for groves of trees as deep as 400 meters. Figure 21 shows the frequency-depth combinations that were examined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>As final typing of this report was being completed, a study prepared by E. J. Violette of the Institute for Telecommunication Sciences was received. TABLE 4.3 of the document, CECOM-81-CSO20-F, June 1981, contains measurements of  $\alpha$  at 9.6 - 57.6 GHz. The <u>trends</u> of these values as a function of F and d<sub>f</sub> are quite close to those predicted by MED Equation 6. However, the actual values are notably larger than the predictions. They are also larger than Currie's and McQuate's measured values in this frequency range. A study to resolve these differences is desirable.

Section 2

The equation is applicable to dense, temperate, mid-latitude forests. There is presently, however, no dependable means of quantifying density.

The equation is applicable when at least one of the antennas is within or near the grove of trees. An approximate criterion for being near the trees is that the take-off angle from the antenna nearest the trees to the tree tops is greater than 16°. In some instances, however, the model was found to be applicable for angles as low as 8°. It is desirable to compute the MED loss and the diffraction loss (described in Section 3) for each specific problem. The appropriate model will be the one with the lower predicted loss.

If the foliage is wet from a rainstorm or if it is characteristic of tropical areas (very lush and with heavy underbrush), then a will be larger than is predicted by Equation 6. If there are no leaves on the trees, a will be smaller. Available data for these circumstances is presented in subsection 2.7.

Section 3

## SECTION 3

#### DIFFRACTION OVER TREES

#### 3.1 INTRODUCTION

This section summarizes reports of cases in which it was found that the characteristics of loss were predicted by the assumption that the majority of the energy propagated was caused by diffraction over the trees.

Figure 24 illustrates the basic parameters for a diffraction calculation. While the figure shows that the calculations can be done for a continuum of geometries, reports on the model have only dealt with two extremes: the infinitely narrow obstacle -- knife-edge diffraction (KED) --and the smooth-spherical obstacle with a radius equal to 4/3 times the true radius of the earth.

With the limited amount of information available, it has not been possible to develop a precise criterion for determining when the KED model should be used and when the smooth-spherical diffraction (SSD) model is applicable.

#### 3.2 HEAD -- THE SSD MODEL

Head's study (see Reference 27) discusses two models. One, the SSD that requires knowledge of the specific antenna-forest geometry, and the other, a type of "area" model in which the details of the location of the trees in relation to the antennas are not required. In this subsection, Head's findings on the SSD model are summarized. His area model is discussed in Section 4 of this report.

Section 3





<sup>37</sup>Bullington, K., "Radio Propagation Fundamentals," <u>Bell System Technical</u> Journal, May 1957.

Section 3

The salient features of Head's study were:

- The terrain (Eastern Shore, Maryland) was very smooth. Thus, the tops of the trees could be reasonably described as a portion of a smooth spherical shell.
- 2. The measurements were made at 485 MHz using horizontal polarization.
- 3. The trees were approximately divided evenly between deciduous and coniferous types. The data was taken in December and January; thus, the deciduous trees were leafless.
- 4. The model only provided a good match to the data for clearing depths of at least 0.01 miles (= 53' = 16 m). When the antenna was closer to the trees, the diffraction loss was so large that the signal through the trees (such as the one described by the MED model) became more significant than the diffracted signal.
- 5. The model provided a good match to the data only for cases in which the ratio of ray-path clearance to Fresnel-zone radius  $(H/H_0)$  in Figure 24) was greater than -0.6. The reason for this presumably is the same as the reason for the antenna-forest separation criterion cited in number 4 above.
- 6. The height of the antenna nearest to the trees was 9.1 meters. The height of the trees was 16.8 m. When combined with the 0.01 mile (16 m) antenna-tree separation, this corresponds to take-off angles between the antenna and the tree tops of less than 26°.
- 7. Head found that the comparison between calculations and measurements was best when the height of the trees was assumed to be 3.0 meters less than their physical height. It seems possible that the difference between the true and effective heights would have been less if all of the trees were in leaf.
- 8. The "M" parameter for the diffraction analysis was calculated using antenna heights above local terrain; the height of the trees did not enter into this calculation.

Section 3

#### 3.3 MEEKS -- THE KED MODEL

Meek's study (see Reference 29) involves propagation of verticallypolarized signals over an isolated pine-tree covered hill at 1090 MHz. Both antennas were in clearings and were more than 0.9 km from the hill. Meeks used KED calculations in which the height of the obstacle was assumed to be the height of the hill plus the height of the trees. He accounted for terrain reflections when the reflection points fell on unvegetated terrain. He assumed that they were negligible in other cases. Generally, his predictions compared well with the measurements.

#### 3.4 LAGRONE -- THE KED MODEL

LaGrone (see Reference 28) showed that KED provided a good description of measured data in an experiment involving these circumstances:

- 1. Frequencies ranged from 82 to 2950 MHz.
- 2. Horizontal polarization was used.
- 3. The trees were live oak and hackberry, in full leaf. The grove was 800-1600 meters thick. There was some underbrush.
- 4. The receiver was moved from 4.5 to 111.3 meters from the trees. The transmitter was (apparently) at least 2 km from the trees.
- 5. The knife-edge was assumed to be at the edge of the grove of trees that was closest to the receiver.
- 6. The optimum height of the knife-edge was found to be 4.5 meters less than the true tree height (9 meters) at 82 MHz. The difference was 1.3 meters at 210 and 633 MHz and 0.6 meters at 1280 and 2950 MHz, respectively.
- 7. The reflected ray between the trees and the receiver was taken into account in the modeling.
- 8. In LaGrone's article, comparisons with KED predictions are only shown for clearing depths of 35 meters or greater. The implication is that the model was less satisfactory for smaller clearings.

Section 3

- 9. The height of the antenna nearest to the trees was varied from 1.5 to 10 meters. Thus, the take-off angle to the tree tops was less than 12°.
- 10. While LaGrone shows "spherical earth" propagation curves for comparison with the data, these curves do not include either the effects of the trees or the terrain. Thus, while he shows that KED does provide a good model for the additional loss due to trees, he does not demonstrate that a rounded obstacle (such as was used by Head) would not be a better model.

#### 3.5 OTHER EXAMPLES OF KED BEHAVIOR

Figure 25 is an example of the relationship between knife-edge diffraction calculations and measurements at 25 MHz. It is seen that the model predictions are resonably accurate.

The review of the accuracy of ECAC's propagation predictions for the Gallant Eagle exercise  $^{38}$  suggests that the KED model is useful in predicting foliage effects at 5 GHz.

Longley and Hufford's study (see Reference 30) of data at 170 and 410 MHz suggests that models like KED are valid when the take-off angle to the tree tops is less than 6°. For cases when the clearing size is small enough that the take-off angle is greater than 6°, they use a combination of the EXD model and diffraction models. Direct empirical support of the 6° threshold is not provided.

<sup>38</sup>Shiers, A., <u>Tactical Performance Assessment Program Report</u>, Gallant Eagle 79, Patrick AFB, FL, December 1978.



wavelengths, 25 MHz, tropical vegetation. The measurements were reported by Hicks (see Reference 34, p. 109). Reduction in foliage attenuation vs. clearing size ( $\Delta$ ) in Figure 25.

ESD-TR-81-101

Section 3

#### 3.6 SUMMARY OF THE DIFFRACTION MODEL STUDIES

Diffraction modeling has been shown to be useful from 25 to 5000 MHz. It can be used as the sole measure of foliage effects if it results in a lower loss than the loss through the trees as calculated by the MED model. This will occur when the antennas are in clearings. The clearing size required will depend on the frequency, tree height, antenna height, and depth of trees. Reported nominal required clearing sizes range from 16 to 35 meters for the VHF and UHF bands for temperate forests. When antenna heights and tree heights are included in the list of characteristics, it appears that a rough guideline for determining when diffraction is a factor is that the antenna nearest to the trees must be in a clearing large enough so that the take-off angle to the tree tops is smaller than about 8° to 26°. (Other information regarding this criterion is provided in subsection 2.6.2.)

The effective height of the diffracting obstacle is smaller than the height of the tree tops. Reported differences are plotted in Figure 26.

In the KED model, a reasonable approximation can be made by assuming that the obstacle is located at the edge of the grove that is closest to the antenna. Ground reflections between this location and the antenna should be taken into account.

Presently, there is some ambiguity as to when a tree grove should be modeled as a knife edge and when it should be modeled as a spherical obstruction. A further analysis of Head and LaGrone's data might help clarify this matter. Kinase's formula (see Reference 4) for propagation over an extended-slab obstacle may also be applicable to this problem.



Section 4

#### SECTION 4

KINASE'S AREA MODEL FOR TRANSMISSION FROM AN ELEVATED ANTENNA

By combining theoretical analysis with observed loss behavior at 80, 150, and 700 MHz, Kinase (see Reference 4) developed a model for computing the loss due to obstructions in the foreground of one antenna. The model assumes that the second antenna is elevated well above the clutter. The obstructions that were involved in the measurements were both foliage and man-made structures.

A key input to Kinase's model is,  $\eta$ , which is defined as the percent of the land in a 2-km square around the "randomly sited" terminal that is covered by vegetation. It is reasonable to assume that better results could be achieved by considering only the 1 x 2 km rectangle in front of this terminal.

Figures 27 and 28 show the loss predicted by Kinase's model.

Head (see Reference 27) also developed an area model that solved the same type of problem as the Kinase model, i.e., one antenna elevated above the clutter and the other in a region where only the percentage of forest cover was defined. However, the Head model is probably less precise than the Kinase model because it does not use the take-off angle from the randomly sited terminal to the base station as a parameter. For cases in which diffraction is the dominant mechanism, this is a shortcoming because the angle through which the rays must diffract will be lower (and the loss lower) for higher take-off angles. For cases in which most of the energy propagates through the trees, this is again a shortcoming because higher take-off angles will mean shorter path lengths through the foliage and lower losses. Thus, excluding take-off angle as a parameter represents, in theory, a weakness of the Head "percent cover" model.

Further evaluation of these procedures is desirable. An interim recommendation is that the Kinase model be used for this type of problem.



Figure 27. Kinase's estimate of the additional loss due to foliage and man-made structures that cover  $\eta$  of the surface area.<sup>4,39</sup>  $\phi$  is the takeoff angle from the randomly sited terminal to the base-station antenna.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>Longley, A.G., <u>Radio Propagation in Urban Areas</u>, OT Report 78-144, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, April 1978. The curves originally appeared in Reference 4.

ሽ ገዥ (9P) c<sub>50</sub> TI =1% MEDIAN VALUE OF CLUTTER EFFECT, -2 Čenirai Tokvo = 10m - 700 MHzi SO MHZ: Measured . UHF: Keihin & Hanshin Surveys Central Takya Estimated 0.002 0.00155 002 001 ANGLE OF ELEVATION - rodians -0.003 0.05 01 3 0 7 8 710 15 20 25 30 40 ŝ 8) 1 ٦ DISTANCE FOR  $n_1 = 250 \text{ m}$  over a smooth spherical Earth (km)

(Effective earth radius factor K = 4/3)

Figure 28. Kinase's model for clutter due to man-made obstructions and vegetation (see Reference 4 or 39).

Section 5

## SECTION 5 THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL FOR LOSS IN A TROPICAL FOREST

#### 5.1 THE BASIC EQUATION

This model applies to cases in which both antennas are immersed in foliage and separated by distances from 8 to 1600 meters (0.005 - 1.0 miles). Frequencies can range from 25 to 400 MHz. Antenna heights can be from 2 to 7 meters. The model can be adapted to either polarization. The model was developed by Jansky and Bailey researchers from the measurements that they took in a Pak Chong, Thailand, tropical forest (see Reference 5, p. 93). A description of that environment is presented in TABLE 10 of this report (see Subsection 2.7.1).

The equation for calculating loss is:

$$L_{b} = 36.57 + 20 \log f - 20 \log \left[ \frac{Ae^{-1609\alpha d}}{d} + \frac{B}{d^{2}} \right]$$
(11)

where

- $L_{b}$  = basic transmission loss, in dB f = frequency, in MHz
- a,A,B = empirical constants listed in TABLE 13
  - d = path length, in mi (statute).

For distances less than 80 meters, the loss trend follows that of the EXD model. For distances greater than about 160 meters, the loss increases as 40 log d.

This model predicts the mean of the attenuations expected for a set of paths of length d. There is, however, substantial variability of loss as an antenna moves a distance of about half a wavelength. In order to predict actual system performance, this local variability of the signal should be taken into account. Sections 7 and 8 describe techniques for accomplishing this.

وكالتعميما أوالم والمتحاطة المحاصل كمنادعه مس

Section 5

#### TABLE 13

Frequency (MHz)	Polarization	α	A	B
25	v	0.0	0.0	0.00212
50	v	0.0	0.0	0.00106
100	v	0.045	0.615	0.000529
250	v	0.050	0.759	0.000443
400	v	0.055	1.02	0.000523
25	H	0.0	0.0	0.00424
50	н	0.0	0.0	0.00424
100	н	0.020	0.472	0.00551
250	н	0.025	0.774	0.000588
400	н	0.035	1.11	0.000598

#### CONSTANTS FOR THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL

#### 5.2 VALIDATION OF THE JANSKY AND BAILEY EMPIRICAL MODEL

## 5.2.1 Low Antenna Height Data - the Accuracy of the Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model

As part of this ECAC study, predictions of the Jansky and Bailey empirical model were generated for comparison with published measurements that had been taken at five sites. The sites, each containing a different type of tropical foliage, were:

a. Pak Chong, Thailand (see Reference 5, Figures 5.13, 5.14, 5,21, and 5.22) - A wet-dry semi-evergreen forest. Median tree height is 9.1 meters, median trunk diameter is 0.1 meters. The Jansky and Bailey empirical model is based on this data.

b. Songkhala, Thailand (see Reference 34) - A tropical rain forest. Median tree height is 13.3 meters, median trunk diameter is 0.3 meters. (The measured values in TABLE 14 are the average of the x- and y- radial values for a transmitter height of 4 meters and receiver heights of 2.4 and 4.5 meters. This data was reported in Semiannual Report 10 of the Tropical Propagation Research series).

c) Panama<sup>40</sup> - Median tree height is estimated (see Reference 31) to be 11.6 meters. Trunk diameter is 0.2 meters.

d) Chumphon, Thailand<sup>41</sup> - A fresh-water swamp forest. Median tree height is 11.9 meters. Median trunk diameter is 0.1 meters.

e) Ban Mun Chit (see Reference 41) - A dry evergreen forest. Median tree height is 6.1 meters. Median trunk diameter is 0.1 meters.

All measurements were made on circuits with antennas that were less than 6.1 meters above the ground.

The predictions and measurements are listed in TABLE 14. It is seen that the rms errors of the Jansky and Bailey empirical model lie between 5 and 14 dB, depending on frequency and polarization. The column labeled "Theoretical Model" will be described in the next subsection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>Herbstreit, J.W. and Crichlow, W.Q., "Measurement of the Attenuation of Radio Signals by Jungles," <u>Radio Science</u>, August 1964.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>Hagn, G.H., Shrauger, N.K., and Shepherd, R.A., <u>VHF Propagation Results</u> <u>Using Low Antenna Heights in Tropical Forests</u>, Special Technical Report 46, Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, CA, March 1973.

Section 5

#### TABLE 14

#### COMPARISON BETWEEN PREDICTED AND MEASURED VALUES OF THE TOTAL BASIC TRANSMISSION LOSS BETWEEN ANTENNAS SEPARATED BY TROPICAL FOLIAGE (Page 1 of 4)

## $90 \leq \text{FREQUENCY} (\text{MHz}) \leq 100$

#### HORIZONTAL POLARIZATION

Distance	' Ba	sic Transmission Los	s (dB)	Locations
(km)	Measured	Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model	Theoretical Model	
1.60	118	122	NA <sup>a</sup>	Pak Chong
1,60	122	• 22	NA	Songkhala
1.60	139	122	NA	Panama
0.80	119	110	NA	Panama
0.70	114	107	NA	Chumphon
0.40	98	98	143	Ban Mun Chit
0.40	100	98	151	Chumphon
0.20	78	84	133	Ban Mun Chit
0.20	72	84	140	Chumphon
0.16	79	79	NA	Panama
0.10	74	69	1 30	Chumphon
0.10	64	69	122	Ban Mun Chit
R	ms arror (d	B) 7.5	55.9	

a<sub>Not</sub> available.

marilla In. M. the Bearing of the land of the second second second second second second second second second s

and mainter

..... All the second state A grant .......

\_\_\_\_lin int

Section 5

### ESD-TR-81-101

## TABLE 14 (Continued)

(Page 2 of 4)

## 90 < FREQUENCY (MHz) < 100 VERTICAL POLARIZATION

Distance	Ba	Basic Transmission Loss (dB) Locat		
( km )	Measured	Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model	Theoretical Model	
1.6	132	142	NA <sup>a</sup>	Pak Chong
1.6	139	142	NA	Songkhala
1.6	142	142	NA	Panama
0.8	129	130	NA	Panama
0.4	125	118	147	Chumphon
0.2	112	106	137	Chumphon
0.2	88	101	NA	Panama
0.1	86	89	126	Chumphon
	Rms Error (	dB) 6.8	30.0	daa

<sup>a</sup>Not available.

Section 5

مينيانية معاملية. مرينية معامية

## TABLE 14 (Continued)

(Page 3 of 4)

## 40 < FREQUENCY (MHz) < 50 HURIZONTAL POLARIZATION

)istance	Ba	sic Transmission Los	s (dB)	Location
( km )	Measured	Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model	Theoretical Model	
1.6	106	118	NA <sup>a</sup>	Pak Chong
1.6	121	118	NA	Songkhala
0.4	94	94	NA	Chumphon
0.4	96	94	118	Ban Mun Chit
0.2	78	82	96	Chumphon
0.2	78	82	107	Ban Mun Chit
0.1	. 68	70	84	Chumphon
0+1	64	70	95	Ran Mun Chit
R	ms error (d	B) 5.4	23.9	

a Not available.

のため、「日本の「日本の」」という

「「「「「「「」」」」

State Contraction of the state

Section 5

ي يەرەپ بەرەپ يەرەپ يەرەپ بەرەپ ب تەرەپ بەرەپ بەرەپ يەرەپ بەرەپ بەر

التاعييا فالمقامية يستعمانك محالف عا

ak. didaa.

1

## TABLE 14 (Continued)

(Page 4 of 4)

## $40 \leq \text{FREQUENCY} (MHZ) \leq 50$ VERTICAL POLARIZATION

Distance	Basi	Location		
( km )	Measured	Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model	Theoretical Model	
1.60	118	130	NA <sup>a</sup>	Pak Chong
1.60	141	130	NA	Songkhala
1.60	149	130	NA	Panama
0.80	125	118	NA	Panama
0.16	92	90	NA	Panama
0.10	101	82	72	Chumphon
R	ms errors (	1B) 13.2	29.0	

<sup>a</sup>Not available.

وأتكرط واللالان ألله

Section 5

## 5.2.2 Low Antenna Height Data - Comparisons with the Theoretical Lateral-Wave Model

A lateral-wave mechanism has been proposed by several authors<sup>42,43,44,45,46</sup> as a means of explaining the observed loss in tropical forests. The lateralwave behaves in such a way that loss increases with distance as 40 log d. Thus, trends predicted by theoretical lateral-wave models are consistent with the <u>trends</u> observed in tropical forests in Thailand (25 to 400 MHz, see Reference 5) and in India, (50 to 800 MHz, see Reference 10). Further lateral-wave models predict loss-versus-frequency (see Reference 46) and lossversus-antenna height (see Reference 43) <u>trends</u> that have been observed in measurement programs. With regard to predicting the actual basic transmission <u>loss</u> for a particular set of parameters, the theoretical lateral-wave models do not appear to be as accurate as the Jansky and Bailey empirical model. Evidence supporting this remark will follow.

Comparisons between the theoretical model predictions and measurements are also listed in TABLE 14. The predicted values were computed by Hagn (see Reference 41) using the equations of Dence and Tamir (see Reference 45).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>Sachs, D.L. and Wyatt, P.J., "A Conducting Slab Model Electromagnetic Propagation Within a Jungle Medium," Radio Science, February 1968.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>Tamir, T., "Radio Wave Propagation in Forest Environments," <u>IEEE</u> <u>Transactions on Antennas and Propagation</u>, November 1967.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>Tamir, T., "Radio Wave Propagation Along Mixed Paths in Forest Environments," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, July 1977.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Dence, D. and Tamir, T., "Radio Loss of Lateral Waves in Forest Environments," Radio Science, April 1969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Ott, R.H. and Wait, J.R., <u>Excitation Mechanisms for Forest-Covered and</u> <u>Vegetated Media</u>, Tech. Report ACC-ACO-8-73, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, November 1973.

Section 5

The physical parameters of the forest -- conductivity, dielectric constant, and height -- that were used as model inputs were values measured by Hagn. The computed rms errors of the model with these inputs range from 24 to 56 dB, depending on the frequency and polarization.

In another comparison between theoretical model predictions and measurements, Ott (see Reference 46) reported that his version of the lateralwave model over-predicted the loss measured in the 50 - 300 MHz range by 18 dB.

The Jansky and Bailey research team also investigated a version of the lateral-wave model (see Reference 34). They demonstrated that the model would yield quite accurate results if carefully selected "effective" values of the forest's physical parameters were used as model inputs. They obtained their effective values through an iterative process in which comparisons were continuously made between model predictions and the <u>loss</u> values measured at a particular site. The effective values were different for each site investigated. No clear-cut procedure was defined to determine the effective values for a site at which loss measurements had not yet been made. Four years later, researchers from Jansky and Bailey and SRI observed that this problem remained.<sup>47</sup> To this author's knowledge, no further progress had been made on this aspect of the use of the lateral-wave model prior to the preparation of this report.

As another example of errors that may occur when one tries to use the theoretical lateral-wave model, consider the comparison between predictions and Pak-Chong measurements that appeared in a paper by Dence and Tamir (see Reference 45) documenting a "second generation" lateral-wave model. The results are listed in TABLE 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Wait, J., Ott, R., and Telfer, T., editors, Workshop on Radio Systems in Forested and/or Vegetated Environments, AD 780-712, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, February 1974, pp. I-E-2, I-E-4, and I-C-10.

Section 5

#### TABLE 15

Polarization	Measured Loss (dB) <sup>a</sup>	Theoretical Model Values Cited by Nodel Developers <sup>a</sup>	Theoretical Model Values Made by Using Measured σ and ε <sup>b</sup>	Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model
Vertical	117	111	94	122
Horizontal	104	107	92	110

#### PREDICTED AND MEASURED EASIC-TRANSMISSION LOSSES (50 MHz, 1 km, Pak Chong, 3..m ant. hts.)

Reference 45, Figure 7.

<sup>b</sup>Reference 45, Figure 9.

The predictions reported by the model developers are based on the electrical parameters of an "average" forest. These are defined as  $\varepsilon = 1.1$  and  $\sigma = 1 \times 10^{-4}$  mho/m. Measured values of c and  $\varepsilon$  at 50 MHz near Pak Chong, however, were  $\varepsilon = 1.02$  and  $\sigma = 4 \times 10^{-5}$  (see Reference 47, p I-C-11). The predictions resulting from use of those measured values are listed in the third column of numbers in TABLE 15. The magnitudes of the errors are 23 and 12 dB. The errors of the Jansky and Bailey empirical model would be 5 and 6 dB for this problem.

(The subset of basic-transmission-loss values in TABLES 14 and 15 that are attributed to References 41 and 45 were derived from the "radio-loss" and "system-loss" values in those reports by adding 4 dB to these other losses. This is the procedure recommended on p. 105 of Reference 41. It is also consistent with Equations 1 and 13 and Figure 6 of Reference 45.)

A "lateral wave" model was recently endorsed by the Hughes research team (see Reference 26). They reported correlation between model predictions and measurements taken at 1000 MHz in Florida. However, their model, while indeed using a lateral-wave geometry, is really an empirical model. Their empirical estimate of the trend of the tree-top mode loss is:

Section 5

(12)

 $L \sim 20 \log d + (.01) \times d$ 

where d = the distance across the top of the trees, in meters. In contrast, the theoretical lateral-wave model predicts a 40 log d dependence. (It should be remembered that the developers of this theoretical model did not claim that it would be accurate at frequencies higher than about 200 MHz.)

In summary, at frequencies greater than 50 MHz, selected empirical models have been observed to be more practical for generating accurate predictions of  $L_{\rm b}$  in forest environments than selected theoretical lateral-wave models. In particular, when predicting  $L_{\rm b}$  between two low (2-7 m) antennas in a tropical jungle at 50 and 100 MHz, the Jansky and Bailey empirical model is more accurate than one particular theoretical lateral-wave model, if measured values of the jungle's electrical parameters are used as inputs to the theoretical model. Pending further research, it appears reasonable to recommend use of this empirical model over the frequency range for which it was designed, i.e., 25 - 400 MHz.

### 5.2.3 Further Discussion on the Accuracy of the Jansky and Bailey Empirical Model

Preliminary studies were done in which the predictions from Equation 11 were modified, in accordance with guidelines in Reference 5, to account for antenna heights greater than 7 meters. When comparisons between these predictions and high-antenna height measurements were made, the resulting errors were larger than those shown in TABLES 14 and 15.

Theoretical considerations reported in Reference 45 indicate that when antenna heights are lower than the 2-meter minimum considered in TABLES 14 and 15, the actual received power may be lower than that predicted through use of Equation 11.

Studies of data reported by Dence (see Reference 47) indicate that areas exist for improvement in the empirical modeling of loss in a tropical

jungle. For example, a study of some of the Jansky and Bailey data reveals that  $L_b$  is proportional to 13 log d in one parameter range and 53 log d in another. These are situations for which Equation 11 would predict 40 log d. Dence cites the development of an improved empirical model as a desirable future task.

#### 5.3 SUMMARY OF SECTION 5

The Jansky and Bailey empirical model (Equation 11) offers reasonably accurate (rmm errors from 5 to 14 dB) predictions of basic transmission loss for the problem of two low (2 - 7 m) antennas, separated by distances from 8 to 1600 meters in tropical forests. The model is applicable in the 25 - 400 MHz band. Comparisons with a limited set of 50 - 100 MHz measurements indicate that the theoretical lateral-wave model is not as accurate if measured values of the forest's electrical parameters are used as inputs to the model. Use of effective values of the forest's parameters will increase the accuracy of the theoretical model, but no guidelines for choosing these values have been reported.

The empirical model predicts the mean of the attenuations expected for a set of paths of length d. There is, however, substantial variability of loss as an antenna is moved a distance of about half a wavelength. In order to predict actual system performance, this local variability of the signal should be taken into account. Sections 7 and 8 describe techniques for accomplishing this.

Section 6

#### SECTION 6

NEASURED VALUES OF THE ADDITIONAL LOSS CAUSED BY TREES

This section contains a set of plots of the additional loss that is caused by the intervention of trees between the transmitting and receiving antennas. The values plotted represent the loss on a path with trees minus the loss on a nearby path without trees.

Figures 29 through 36 are plots of measured loss versus frequency. These graphs should be especially useful to analysts who have the task of recommending the optimum band for a new equipment. Figures 37 and 38 supplement the preceding plots by showing further details of the data from the 900 to 1300 NHs band.

The figures are intended to supplement the preceding sections by providing data that is not necessarily described by any of the previously described models.





فتقدينا فاستدعوا فكالمغد والمماول محديقون تزلجوا الاخطاطات فركسات والمرع سند

Section 6

يسانان فسيدينا كنين مقد بالب

ستأحيسها غطوها تكفئك ففكال

and the filment

H



93

يتزليك كيلية ولتنقيه وعرب أستعد غلات

ESD-TR-81-101

McQuate, P.L., et al., Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Liregular Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part II: Fritz Peak Receiver Site, ESSA TR ERL 65-ITS, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO. 48


Additional loss due to foliage vs trequency -- extensive grove of trees, 5-20 meter clearing. Figure 31.

Section 6

「山田市には、「「山田」」

in the second states when a second states when the



6

and the second

でのやくとうというです。

ESD-TR-81-101





<sup>4</sup>McQuate, P.L., et al., Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Irregular Terrain in the 230-9200 HHz Prequency Range, Part III: North Table Mountain-Golden, ESSA TR EFL 65-ITS 58-3, Institute for Telecommunications Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, October 1970.

49 McQuate, P.L., et al.,

Additional loss due to foliage vs frequency -- one antenna immediately behind a single tree.

Figure 33.

Section 6

「日本の日日にないていていたいでしていた」という

「日本の一方



Section 6

(a) A set of the se



Section 6

3

١.

THE PARTY



فكالمستطل فكموقع والالمواجعة ويرتث وعوارت والمواجع والتهافية للالال والمستعد معامساتهم والمعيد

Section 6

and the second second

and the second second





فالملافظة والملالة معاهدتهم والإوراخا فرجوا تجاني ليدينا فاستاقت وجافا فالمعرجون محمد معارسا ساعلوهما

Section 6

المانيان ال من المانيان المانيان المانيان المانيان المانيان المانيات المانياتين المانياتين المانياتين المانياتين المانياتين





Section 6

i manana ar ina ang ar

al and

Section 7

#### SECTION 7

THE VARIATION OF SIGNAL STRENGTH WITH POSITION IN A FOREST

#### 7.1 INTRODUCTION

In a forest environment, transmitted waves may reach the receiver via a number of paths, e.g., direct, ground-reflected, lateral-wave, air-treeinterface reflected, single-tree scattered, and multiple-tree scattered. Because each path will generally have a length that is different from that of the other paths, the phase of a signal received from one path will be different than the phase of a signal received from another path. Signals from several paths will usually be received at any specified point. The combination of signals with differing phases results in phenomena that appear in the space, frequency, and time domains. The phenomena in the space (position) domain will be discussed in this section.

The models presented in Sections 2 and 5 of this report can be used to predict the mean of the powers that is expected at the set of all points that are at a constant distance from the transmitter. Figure 39 illustrates that there is, however, considerable variation of the signal about the mean level due to multipath phenomena. Subsections 7.2 and 7.3 describe two theoretical models that can be used to describe the statiszical behavior of these variations. Observed statistics are discussed in subsection 7.4. Two methods for expressing the performance of communications systems in an environment with spatial multipath patterns are presented in Section 8.

Section 7

ł



Figure 39. An illustration of the spatial variation in signal strength due to multipath in the forest environment. The frequency is 250 MHz, polarization is vertical, and the receiver is located in a tropical forest in central Thailand (see Reference 5, p. 104).

Section 7

# 7.2 A MODEL UTILIZING THE RAYLEIGH DISTRIBUTION 50

If the signal strength at a point can be modeled with these assumptions:

- The total field is due to contributions from many paths; the magnitudes of the component vectors are random, but the total power of the sum of the vectors is constant<sup>a</sup>
- 2. The contribution of any one vector to the total received power is small
- 3. The phase of each vector is a random variable that is uniformly distributed over the range  $0-2\pi$

then the probability that the amplitude of the resultant vector is greater than A, P(A), is given by the Rayleigh distribution:

$$P(\lambda) = \exp(-\lambda^2/\lambda_p^2)$$
(13)

where

 $A_p$  = the RMS value of the resultant vector.

When Equation 13 is solved for P(A) = 0.5, the median amplitude,  $A_{0.5}$ , is found to be equal to  $A_p \sqrt{1n2}$ . Thus, Equation 13 is equivalent to:

$$P(A) = \exp\left(\frac{-A^2 \ln 2}{A_{0.5}^2}\right)$$
 (14)

Values from Equation 14 are shown on the bottom line of TABLE 16. (The remainder of the Table is explained in subsection 7.3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Rayleigh stipulated that the amplitudes were equal; Norton showed that this condition was not necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>Norton, K.A., et al., "The Probability Distribution of the Amplitude of a Constant Vector Plus a Rayleigh-Distributed Vector," <u>Proceedings of the IRE</u>, October 1955.

Section 7

### TABLE 16

10 log Г <sub>р</sub> (dB)	S.01-S.5 (dB)	S <sub>.1</sub> -S <sub>.5</sub> (db)	3-5.5 (db)	\$,9 <sup>-\$</sup> ,5 (dB)	<sup>S</sup> 99 <sup>-S</sup> 5 (dB)	σ (db)
ظعم	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
10	3.54	2.12	-0.21	2.80	-5.98	2.00
o	7.02	4.48	-0.94	-7.53	-17.55	5.09
-10	8.19	5.20	-0.92	-8.18	-18.38	5.56
_ <b></b> C	8.22	5.21	-0.92	-8.18	-18.39	5.57

# CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RAYLEIGH AND NAKAGAMI-RICE DISTRIBUTIONS<sup>®</sup>

NOTE:  $S_{YY}$  = signal power exceeded at XX% of the locations = 20 log  $A_{XY}$ .

<sup>a</sup>See Reference 6. <sup>b</sup>Constant signal. <sup>C</sup>Rayleigh signal.

If the field at any point in the midst of or "near" a forest is due to a multitude of components that satisfy the three criteria listed above, then Equation 13 or 14 can be used to estimate the probability that the field strength will have a particular amplitude. (The problem with quantifying the word "near" is discussed in subsection 7.4.) At another point in the forest that is "far" from the first point, the phases and amplitudes of the components that contribute to the resultant field strength vector will be uncorrelated with the phases and amplitudes of the components of the field at the first point considered. The field strength at this second point can be considered another random variable with an amplitude probability determined by Equations 13 and 14. (The term "far" will be given a quantitative definition in subsection 7.4.) Thus, the voltage at the input terminals to a receiver that is moving in this forest environment will be characterized by a Rayleigh distribution.

Section 7

# 7.3 A MODEL UTILIZING THE NAKAGANI-RICE DISTRIBUTION51, 4

This distribution describes the field that is obtained when a constant vector is added to a Rayleigh-distributed vector with random relative phase uniformly distributed between 0 and  $2\pi$ . It will apply to situations in which one component of the field at a receiver remains relatively constant for small changes in position, but a multitude of scattered components, also contributing to the field, do change randomly as the receiver is moved. The probability of the normalized resultant amplitude being larger than A, P(A) is:

$$P(A) = \int_{A=A}^{\infty} 2a \Gamma_F I_O [2a \Gamma_F] exp[-\Gamma_F(a^2 + 1)] da \qquad (15)$$

where

A = normalized resultant amplitude = resultant amplitude/ $A_g$   $\Gamma_F = A_g^2/2\sigma^2$   $A_g^2/2$  = the power in the constant vector  $\sigma^2$  = the power in the Rayleigh-distributed vector  $I_o$  = the modified bessel function of the first kind, zero<sup>th</sup> order.

When the criteria for this model are met, movement of an antenna from place to place produces a voltage at the receiver input terminals that has a Nakagami-Rice distribution. The movements have to be in an area small enough so that  $\Gamma_F$  remains relatively constant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>A</sup>lso, see Reference 50 and Reference 6, p. V-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>Robertson, R.G., et al., <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Vol. III, Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, 1969, p. 31.

Section 7

# 7.4 NEASURED VALUES OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF FIELD STRENGTHS THAT RESULT FROM MOVEMENT OF A TERMINAL

### 7.4.1 Tropical Porests

Robertson (see Reference 51) measured the distribution of received signals that occurred when a receiver was moved about in a dense tropical rain forest in southern Thailand. His study covered the 50 - 150 MHz band.

Robertson's experiments involved path lengths in the 0.3 - 2.4 km range. Transmitter heights varied from 4 to 61 meters, receiver heights from 1.8 to 6.1 meters. The tree canopy height varied from 19.8 to 36.6 meters. The number of trunks per acre was 590 (see Reference 31, p. 370).

Robertson observed that:

- 1. For receivers within the forest, the field strength can be characterized by a Nakagami-Rice distribution ( $\Gamma_{\rm F} > 0$ ) for horizontal polarization and by a Rayleigh distribution ( $\Gamma_{\rm F} = 0$ ) for vertical polarization.
- 2.  $\Gamma_F$  is larger in clearings than it is in the forest. That is, the steady component of the signal is more significant in relation to the randomly varying component when the receiver is in a clearing.
- 3.  $\Gamma_F$  becomes smaller as frequency increases. That is, the randomly varying component of the signal increases significantly as the frequency increases.
- 4. In some cases, raising the antenna height increases  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$ . In other cases, there is no change.
- 5.  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$  becomes smaller as the height or density of the forest increases.

For horizontal polarization, 10 log  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$  was always less than 11 dB for receivers in the forest. In 22 percent of the cases, the Rayleigh distribution (10 log  $\Gamma_{\rm F} = -\infty$ ) provided a suitable model. For receivers in clearings, 10 log  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$  was as high as 18 dB; the Rayleigh distribution applied to 7 percent of the cases.

For vertical polarization with the receiving antenna in the forest, 10 log  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$  was always less than 4 dB. The Rayleigh distribution applied to 69 percent of the cases. With the receiver in a clearing, 10 log  $\Gamma_{\rm F}$  was as high as 10 dB, and the Rayleigh distribution was suitable for modeling 11 percent of the cases.

In subsections 7.2 and 7.3, it was mentioned that the Rayleigh and Nakagami-Rice distributions applied to receivers in the midst of or "ner" a forest. There is not enough data to support an empirical definition of "near." It is noted, however, that Robertson did observe a Rayleigh distribution with the receiver 61 meters from the trees. This observation was made for both polarizations. Antenna heights were less than 6.1 meters.

The separation between the terminal and the trees that is required to preclude multipath effects is a function of the many parameters that influence propagation in a forest environment: antenna heights, path length, terrain features, height and density of the trees, seasonal variations of foliage, polarization, and frequency. Generalization from a small number of observations is not recommended.

In the Rayleigh model description, it was mentioned that two points would have to be separated "far enough" from each other in order for the field strength at one point to be uncorrelated with the field strength at another point. Robertson observed that 0.5  $\lambda$  was a sufficient separation for reception points located along the same great circle path to the receiver. 1.0  $\lambda$  separation was needed if the two reception points were on a line transverse to the great circle path.

Section 7

Section 7

ESD-TR-81-101

In another area of Thailand, Jansky and Bailey crews found 0.37  $\lambda$  was sufficient for uncorrelated amplitudes. This was based on measurements taken along a single great circle path from the transmitter. This result was found to be independent of frequency in the 25 - 400 MHz band (see Reference 5, p. 107).

These measurements confirm a theoretical prediction by Gans.<sup>52</sup> He determined that 0.5  $\lambda$  would be appropriate for the separation between receiving antennas along the same great circle path. He showed that the distance will increase if the receiver is moved away from the scatterers.

At frequencies where small correlation distances are expected, it is reasonable to consider space diversity as a technique for reducing loss of signal due to multipath fades.<sup>53</sup>

#### 7.4.2 Nontropical Forests

weighter with the second of the second s

Measured values of the distribution of field strengths resulting from the movement of a terminal in temperate forests have been reported by Josephson,<sup>17</sup> Okumura,<sup>54</sup> and Englund.<sup>55</sup>

Josephson published a graph, reproduced here as Figure 40, that shows the range of small scale variability of VHF signals in a pine forest. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>Gans, M.J., "A Power Spectral Theory of Propagation in the Mobile Radio Environment," JEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, February 1972.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>Vincent, W.R. and Hagn, G.H., "Comments on the Performance of VHF Vehicular Radio Sets in Tropical Forests," <u>IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology</u>, August 1969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>Okumura, Y., et al., "Field Strength and Its Variability in VHF and UH? Land-Mobile Radio Service Station," <u>Review of the Tokyo Electrical</u> <u>Communication Laboratory</u>, September 1968.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Englund, C.R., et al., "Some Results of a Study of Ultra-Short-Wave Transmission Phenomena," <u>Proceedings of the IRE</u>, March 1933.

variability is described as the difference between the levels not exceeded at 10% and at 90% of the locations. From TABLE 16 one can see that this difference is 13.5 dB for a Rayleigh-distributed signal. This difference is reached at 80 MHz.



Figure 40. The observed variability of the signal received in a nontropical forest (see Reference 17).

Okumura showed that measurements taken at 450, 900, and 1900 MHz "in or behind" a forest were Rayleigh-distributed. The antennas were vertically polarized.

Englund reported a fluctuation of about 10 dB, peak-to-peak in the 60 - 80 MHz band in woods and at the edge of the woods in New Jersey. This is less severe than the fluctuation of a Rayleigh-distributed signal. Vertical polarization was used in this test.

#### 7.5 SUMMARY OF SECTION 7

and the state of the

The field at any point in a forest generally consists of components that have traveled along different paths. As one or both antennas is moved through the trees, the phase relationship between the components changes. Therefore, the magnitude of the composite field changes. Furthermore, the shadowing

effect of individual near-by trees changes as the antennas are moved. These changes caused substantial fluctuations of the received power. The distribution of the received power has been found experimentally to be described by a Nakagami-Rice distribution. In many cases, the best description is a special case of this distribution -- the Rayleigh distribution -- which tends to occur when the antennas are in dense forests and when the frequency is above 100 MHz. For vertically polarized antennas, it has also been observed at frequencies as low as 50 MHz.

Measurements have been made in tropical forests of the minimum separation between two points such that the field strengths at these points are not correlated. These separations were less than 1  $\lambda$  in the 25 - 400 MHz band.

Section 7

Section 8

#### SECTION 8

THE IMPACT OF FREQUENCY-FLAT FADING ON SYSTEM PERFORMANCE

# 8.1 THE EFFECTS OF THE VARIATION OF SIGNAL STRENGTH WITH POSITION ON SYSTEM PERFORMANCE

In the previous section it was shown that a terminal carried through a forest will be subjected to multipath effects. Two methods for describing the resulting degradation to system performance will now be discussed. The first results in the prediction of the overall bit-error rate that can be expected. The second leads to a prediction of the fraction of time that the bit-error rate will not fall below a specified level. The latter technique can be applied to analog systems also. In that case, the method will result in a prediction of the percentage of time that a specified articulation index or articulation score will not fall below a particular value.

Both prediction methods are based on these two assumptions:

- 1. The transmitted signal bandwidth is narrow enough so that frequency-selective fading does not distort the signal.
- The spacing between the transmitted bits is large enough so that multipath delays do not result in intersymbol interference.

With these assumptions, the key multipath effect is the random increase and decrease of the signal level as one or both terminals move about.

It should be noted that the formulas in this section represent theoretical predictions of system performance given a frequency flat channel. In many instances, the forest will produce a channel that has a significant variation in gain within the bandwidth of a signal. In these cases, the degradation to the quality of the received signal will be even more severe than is indicated by the formulas in this section (see, e.g., Jakes<sup>56</sup>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>Jakes, W.C., "An Approximate Method to Estimate an Upper Bound on the Effect of Multipath Delay Distortion on Digital Transmission," <u>IEEE Transactions on</u> <u>Communications Systems</u>, January 1979.

Section 8

#### 8.2 PREDICTING AN OVERALL BIT-ERROR RATE

This method is described by Robertson, <sup>51</sup> Nesenbergs, <sup>57</sup> and Sunde. <sup>58</sup> Biterror rates are calculated using a form of the theorem of total probability:

$$BER = \int (BER|S/N) p(S/N) d(S/N)$$
(16)

where

BER		the actual bit-error rate in the presence of fading
BER S/N	-	the bit-error rate for a fixed signal-to-noise ratio
p(S/N)	-	the probability density for S/N.

Robertson calculated the bit-error rate for a noncoherent FSK system using Equation 16. The bit-error rate in the absence of fading (but with Gaussian noise) was assumed to be:

$$BER|S/N = \frac{1}{2}e^{-(S/N)/2}$$
(17)

Combining Equations 17, 16, and 13 results in a BER in the presence of Rayleigh fading of:

$$BER = \frac{1}{S/N + 2}$$
(18)

Here the signal-to-noise ratio is the mean value. The values are plotted in Figure 41. It is observed that for 10 log S/N = 11 dB, the BER for a Rayleigh faded signal is almost two orders of magnitude larger than the BER for an unfaded channel with the same average signal strength.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>Nesenbergs, M., "Binary Error Probability Due to an Adaptable Fading Model," <u>IEEE Transactions on Communications Systems</u>, March 1964.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>Sunde, E.D., <u>Communication Systems Engineering Theory</u>, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY, 1969.

as derbeiten Afrikanskeinen der sonen eine Vaktion in on och Anthendert Anthendert aber in Artendert Anthender

Section 8



Figure 41. BER for noncoherent FSK system subjected to Rayleigh or Nakagami-Rice fades. The curve labeled Gaussian represents the error rate for a constant signal power and Gaussian noise (see Reference 51, p. 74).

Using Equation 16, Sunde shows that for coherently detected binary PM, the unfaded BER, expressed by:

$$BER|S/N = 1/2 \operatorname{erfc}\sqrt{S/N}$$
(19)

becomes:

بالمراجع المارية فالمتناقع يستعربهم

نيوس وأوها كمتنا الأنا الأطائل المالية الاقتلاط المستري

BER = 
$$1/2\left(1 - \left(\frac{S/N}{S/N + 1}\right)^{1/2}\right)$$
 (20)  
 $\approx \frac{1}{4 S/N}$  (20a)

in the presence of Rayleigh fading.

For binary PM with differential phase detection, the unfaded BER is:

BER 
$$= \frac{1}{2} e^{-S/N}$$
 (21)

With Ray eigh fading it becomes:

BER 
$$\frac{1}{2(S/N+1)}$$
 (22)

$$\frac{1}{2 \text{ S/N}}$$
 (22a)

For \_\_\_\_\_iary FM (i.e., FSK) with dual filter synchronous detection:

BER = 
$$1/2 \operatorname{erfc} \left(\frac{S/N}{2}\right)^{1/2}$$
 (23)

which becomes:

BER = 
$$1/2 \left( 1 - \left( \frac{S/N/2}{1 + S/N/2} \right)^{1/2} \right)$$
 (24)  
=  $1/2 \left( \frac{1}{S/N + 2} \right)$  (24a)

in the presence of Rayleigh fading.

#### 116

Section 8

Section 8

For binary FM with frequency discriminator detection, the error rate is approximately:

 $BER \approx \frac{1}{2 \text{ S/N}}$ (25)

in the presence of Rayleigh fading.

In a forest environment, these effects can be reduced, in theory, by employing space diversity with two antennas separated by distances on the order of 0.37 to 1.0  $\lambda$  (see subsection 7.4.)

# 8.3 PREDICTING THE FRACTION OF TIME THAT A SPECIFIED BIT-ERROR RATE WILL NOT BE EXCEEDED

This technique is described in the Lenkurt Handbook.<sup>59</sup> It is used in the Institute for Telecommunication Sciences codes such as the Automated Digital Systems Engineering Model  $(ADSEM)^{60}$  and in ECAC codes such as the Exercise Support Program.<sup>a</sup> The method can be applied to cases of both Rayleigh and Nakagami-Rice signal strength distributions. The Rayleigh case can be treated with a closed-form equation. The development of this equation will now be shown.

<sup>59</sup>GTE Lenkurt, Inc., Engineering Considerations for Microwave Communications Systems, San Carlos, CA, 1975.

These documents and models do not address foliage effects specifically. They do, however, describe a technique for predicting the effect of a Rayleigh-faded signal on system performance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Hause, L.G. and Hildebrandt, T.H., Programmer's Guide for the Automated L.O.S. Microwave Engineering Program, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, November 1978.

Section 8

ESD-TR-81-101

If the signal power needed for a specified bit-error rate is  $S_{BER}$ , then the fade margin relative to the mean signal power,  $\overline{S} (\sim A_R^2)$ , is:

$$f_{m} = \overline{S}/S_{BER}$$
(26)

and

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{m}} = 10 \log(\overline{\mathbf{S}}/\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{BER}}) \tag{27}$$

The probability of having a signal power greater than  $S_{BER}$  is, from Equation 13:

$$P(S_{BER}) = exp(-S_{BER}/\overline{S}) = exp\left(-\frac{1}{f_m}\right)$$
(28)  
$$= exp\left(-F_m/10\right)$$
(29)

Thus, given a fade margin referenced to a mean signal level, Equation 28 or 29 can be used to predict the probability (which is equivalent to the fraction of time) that the circuit will achieve the specified bit-error rate if the spatial variation of signal strength due to multipath in the forest environment is Rayleigh-distributed and the transmitter or receiver moves about in this environment.

If the fade margins calculated relative to the median signal levels are designated as  $f_{0.5}$  and  $F_{0.5}$  (= 10 log  $f_{0.5}$ ), then:

$$f_{0.5} = S_{0.5}/S_{BER} = A_{0.5}^{2}/A_{BER}^{2} = A_{R}^{2} \ln 2/A_{BER}^{2}$$
(30)  

$$= \overline{S} \cdot \ln 2/S_{BER} = f_{m} \cdot \ln 2 = f_{m} \cdot 0.693$$

Section 8

ESD-TR-81-101

Solving Equation 30 for  $f_m$  and inserting this into Equation 28 yields:

$$P(S_{BER}) = exp\left(-\ln 2/f_{0.5}\right)$$
(31)

$$= \exp\left(-\ln 2 \cdot 10^{-F_{0.5}/10}\right)$$
(32)

For completeness, it can be noted that Equations 29 and 32 are a more generalized form of equation than sometimes appear in handbooks (e.g., see Reference 59). These latter equations are obtained by assuming that the fade margin is larger than 10 dB. Then, using the first two terms of the series expansion for  $e^{-X}$ , the following relations are obtained:

$$-F/10$$
  
P(S<sub>BER</sub>) = 1 - 10<sup>m</sup> (33)

and

$$P(S_{BER}) = 1 - \ln 2 \cdot 10$$
(34)

8.4 SUMMARY OF SECTION 8

Two methods for describing the degradation to system performance that occurs when a terminal moves through a forest are described. One is a prediction of the overall bit-error rate that can be expected. Calculations are presented for binary phase and frequency-modulated systems. The second method yields a prediction of the fraction of time that the received-signal level would be above a user-specified signal-to-noise ratio. This can be applied to both analog and digital systems. Neither technique accounts for degradation which can occur if the transmission bandwidth is larger than the bandwidth over which the fades are flat. Thus, it can be stated that the degradation will be at least as great as is predicted by these methods.

Section 9

# SECTION 9

#### SUMMARY

The traditional model for predicting the increase in loss due to propagation through trees is this exponential decay (SXD) model:

$$L = 0.26 F^{0.77} d_{e}$$
(35)

where L is the loss due to the trees in dB, F is the frequency in GHz, and  $d_f$  is the depth of the trees in meters. In this report, it is shown that for problems in the 230-MHz to 95-GHz band, a better prediction is obtained from this modified exponential decay (NED) model:

$$L = 1.33 F^{0.284} d_{f}^{0.588} \text{ for } 14 \leq d_{f} \leq 400$$
 (36a)

= 
$$0.45 F^{0.284} d_f$$
 for  $0 \le d_f \le 14$  (36b)

Equation 6 was found to be applicable to cases in which the ray path is blocked by dense, dry, in-leaf trees found in temperate-latitude forests. It is useful for values of  $d_f$  (the depth of trees) as large as 400 meters.

Comparisons between eight sets of measurements and predictions of the EXD and MED models are presented. It is seen that the rms prediction errors of the EXD model are 37, 27, 24, 15, 14, 13, 10, and 4 dB; the corresponding prediction errors of the MED model are 6, 9, 7, 8, 2, 7, 10, and 2 dB.

The problems for which other authors have found diffraction models to be applicable are discussed. These models can be used for geometries in which the majority of the signal propagates over, rather than through, the trees. The studies described pertain to the 25 MHz to 5 GHz band. Guidelines for choosing between the MED model and the diffraction model are presented. There is no documented criterion for choosing between the knife-edge and smoothsphere diffraction models, however. ESD-TR-91-101

Kinase's empirical-theoretical model was found to be applicable to problems in which one antenna is located well above the foliage. The model is based on the assumption that the second antenna is in an area  $\eta$  of which is covered with trees.  $\eta$  is an input parameter which can be varied from 1 to 50. Kinase's model is based on data in the 80-700 MHz frequency range.

The Jansky and Bailey empirical model was found to be applicable to problems in which both antennas are immersed in a tropical forest. Path lengths can vary from 8 to 1600 meters, frequencies from 25 to 400 MHz. Antenna heights should be less than 7 meters. A comparison between a limited set of measurements and predictions of the Jansky and Bailey empirical and a lateral-wave theoretical model is presented. In this comparison, the empirical model is seen to be more accurate. The theoretical model predictions were made using measured values of the electrical parameters of the forests in which the loss measurements were made. Use of effective values of the forest electrical parameters will increase the accuracy of the theoretical model, but no quidelines for choosing such parameters have been reported.

A review of tropical and nontropical measurements shows that, very often, the field strength at an antenna that is moved through foliage will be Rayleigh-distributed. Thus, circuit performance calculations should account for this multipath-fading behavior in addition to accounting for the median foliage loss. Equations for computing hit-error rates for signals subjected to frequency-flat Rayleigh fading are presented for FSK and PSK.

Section 9

Appendix A

ESD-TR-81-101

#### APPENDIX A

#### ALTERNATE FOR MULATIONS FOR a FOR THE EXD MODEL

Section 2 of this report presents LaGrone's formula for a and shows how it compares with the modified exponential decay (MED) model and with measured values of loss. This appendix shows three alternate formulations of a. Each is based (for frequencies above 100 MHz) on Saxton and Lane's data (see Reference 7). Each represents a form of the exponential decay (EXD) model, i.e., a is described as being independent of distance. This appendix includes a comparison between the parameter sensitivities of these expressions, the MED model, and measurements.

In NBS TN 101 (see Reference 6), Rice presented this equation for a:

 $\alpha = 0.244 \log F + 0.290$  (A-1)

where a is in dB/meter and F is the frequency in GHz.

In 1971, Rice presented (see Reference 15) a more elaborate graphic description. This is illustrated in Figure A-1.

The CCIR Plenary Assembly of 1976 (see Reference 10) approved the graph reproduced here as Figure A-2.<sup>a</sup>

Figures A-3 through A-5 show how these values of a compare with those predicted by the MED model (Equation 6). The MED values have been computed for  $d_f = 50$  meters.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup>Krevsky developed a formula for  $\alpha$  (see Reference 11) which was, for midlatitude woods,  $\alpha = .09 F^{0.48}$ . This was based on the assumption that the forest was a lossy dielectric. He suggested that the formula only be applied to signals at frequencies below 100 MHz. It is not considered in future discussions since they are concerned with frequencies higher than this.

and a star straight of the star and the star

Appendix A



Figure A-1. Rice's 1971 representation of  $\alpha$  (see Reference 15).



A: Vertical polarization.B: Horizontal polarization.

Figure A-2. The representation of  $\alpha$  accepted by the CCIR 1978 Plenary Assembly (see Reference 10).

ESD-TR-81-101

「ない」は、人間には、「ない」、「ない」、「ない」、「ない」、「ない」、「ない」、

Appendix A

and a statement of course

Appendix A





Sec. 1

Appendix A

ESD-TR-81-101



Figure A-4. The trands of a vs frequency for the 1971 Rice (see Reference 15) and MED (see Reference 1) models.

Appendix A

विद्यालय हो जाता कि

لللغائظ أستالا أترابط الأشاريد أزراده بعده

h. indifferent

وتعاريبا فيستعادها بعد بمحد بالمأركفية





The variation of  $\alpha$  with the depth-of-trees is the same for these EXD formulations as it is for Equation 5, LaGrone's EXD model. Therefore, the comparisons shown previously in Figures 3 through 7 in Section 2 apply to these formulations. Again the MED model provides a more realistic representation of the measured trends for tree depths greater than about 14 meters. The models are equivalent in accuracy for tree depths less than 14 meters.

Figures A-3 through A-5 and Figure 13 allow a graphic comparison between the loss versus frequency trends of each of the EXD formulations and the MED model. TABLE A-1 provides a quantitative description of the differences.

## TABLE A-1

# PERCENT INCREASE IN LOSS DUE TO PROPAGATION THROUGH FOLIAGE THAT OCCURS WHEN THE FREQUENCY IS INCREASED FROM 200 TO 4000 MHz

Model	MED	TN 101	Rice-71	CCIR-78	Saxton- Lane-LaGrone
Percent Increase	130	270	520	700	900

In Section 2, it is demonstrated that the loss-versus-frequency trend predicted by the MED model ( $F^{0.284}$ ) was more accurate than that predicted by the Saxton-Lane-LaGrone EXD model ( $F^{0.770}$ ). TABLE A-1 indicates that this version of the EXD model represents somewhat of an extreme in comparison with the TN 101, Rice-71, and CCIR-78 formulations. The question of the relative accuracies of the MED and the other EXD formulations (with regard to frequency trend) arises. Time constraints precluded comparisons with all three

Appendix A

Appendix A

1. A. A. ...

alternatives, but a comparison with the TN 101 (0.244 log F) procedures was carried out. The results are shown graphically in Figure A-6 through A-9. A quantitative summary of these results, and those provided earlier in Section 2.5.3, appears below in TABLE A-2. It is seen that the MED procedure predicts all of the measured loss trends more accurately than either of the two EXD formulations. Section 2 contains a possible explanation of why this is so.

# TABLE A-2

	Model Type			
Data Description	MED	<b>TN</b> 101	Saxton-Lane- LaGrone	
Deciduous forest, Colorado, 200 - 4500 MHz horizontal polarization, $d_f = 14 - 15$ meters	263	34%	54%	
As above, d <sub>f</sub> = 60 meters	24%	28	76%	
Mangroves, Australia, 150 - 1500 MHz, vertical polarization, d <sub>f</sub> unknown	7*	25%	51%	
Deciduous and coniferous woods, Georgia, 9 - 95 GHz, both polarizations, d <sub>f</sub> = 4 - 6 meters	16%	25%	39%	
	Rms Error of Predicted Trend			
	(Computed with Equations 8 and 10)			

# A COMPARISON OF THE RMS ERRORS OF THREE MODELS WHEN THEY ARE USED TO PREDICT LOSS-VS-FREQUENCY TRENDS

Appendix A



Figure A-6. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequeat predicted by two models with the measured values of trend. The rms error of of MED model is 26%. The error of the TN 101 model is 34%.
Appendix A



Figure A-7. Illustration comparing the trends of loss-vsfrequency predicted by two models with the measured values of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 24%. The error of the TN 101 model is 28%.

#### Appendix A

ESD-TR-81-101



Figure A-8. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured values of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 7%. The error of the TN 101 model is 25%.

Appendix A



Figure A-9. Illustration comparing the trends of loss vs frequency predicted by two models with the measured values of the trend. The rms error of the MED model is 16%. The error of the TN 101 model is 25%.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Weissberger, M. and Hauber, J., "Modeling the Increase in Loss Caused by Propagation Through a Grove of Trees," <u>Program and Abstracts of the North</u> <u>American Radio Science Meeting</u>, Quebec, Canada, 2-6 June 1980.
- Weissberger, M.A., <u>An Initial Critical Summary of Models for Predicting</u> the Attenuation of Radio Waves by Foliage, ECAC-CR-80-035, Electromagnetic Compatibility Analysis Center, Annapolis, MD, July 1980.
- 3. International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), <u>Influence of Terrain</u> <u>Irregularities and Vegetation on Tropospheric Propagation</u>, Report 236-4, (Mod F), Doc. 5/5007-E, 7 September 1981.
- 4. Kinase, A., Influences of Terrain Irregularities and Environment Clutter Surroundings on the Propagation of Broadcasting Waves in the UHF and VHF Bands, NHK Technical Monograph No. 14, Japan Broadcasting Corporation, Tokyo, Japan, March 1969.
- 5. Jansky and Bailey Engineering Department, <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Volume 1, of the Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, 1966, AD660318.
- 6. Rice, P., et al., <u>Transmission Loss Predictions for Tropospheric</u> <u>Communications Circuits</u>, NBS TN 101, National Bureau of Standards, Boulder, CO, Revised January 1967.
- 7. Saxton, J.A. and Lane J.A., "VHF and UHF Reception, Effects of Trees and Other Obstacles," Wireless World, May 1955.
- 8. LaGrone, A.H., "Forecasting Television Service Fields," Proceedings of the IRE, June 1960.
- 9. Currie, N.C., Martin, E.E., and Dyer, F.B., <u>Radar Foliage Penetration</u> <u>Measurements at Millimeter Wavelengths</u>, ESS/GIT-A-1485-TR-4, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, 31 December 1975, ADA023838.
- 10. International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), "Influence of Terrain Irregularities and Vegetation on Tropospheric Propagation," <u>Report 236-4</u>, <u>XIV Plenary Assembly</u>, International Telecommunication Union, Geneva, Switzerland, 1978.
- 11. Krevsky, S., "HF and VHF Radio Wave Attenuation Through Jungle and Woods," <u>IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation</u>, July 1963.
- 12. Ishimaru, A., <u>Wave Propagation and Scattering in Random Media</u>, Academic Press, New York, NY, 1978.

- 13. Trevor, B., "Ultra-High-Frequency Propagation Through Woods and Underbrush," RCA Review, July 1940.
- 14. McPetrie, J.S. and Ford, L.H., "Some Experiments on the Propagation of 9.2 cm Wavelength, Especially on the Effects of Obstacles," <u>Journal of</u> <u>the IEE</u>, Part IIIa, London, England, 1946, p. 531.
- 15. Rice, P.L., "Some Effects of Buildings and Vegetation on HF/UHF Propagation," Conf. Proc. of the 1971 IEEE Mountain-West Conference on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Tucson, AZ, November 1971.
- 16. Frankel, M.S., L-Band Forest Experiments, Packet Radio Temporary Note 254, SRI International, Menlo Park, CA, 19 May 1978.
- 17. Josephson, B. and Blomquist, A., "The Influence of Moisture in the Ground, Temperature and Terrain on Ground Wave Propagation in the VHF-Band," IRE Transactions on Antenna and Propagation, April 1958.
- 18. Nelson, R.A., UHF Propagation in Vegetative Madia, Final Report for Project 8998, SRI International, Manlo Park, CA, April 1980.
- 19. McQuate, P.L., et al., <u>Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Irregular</u> <u>Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part I; Gunbarrel Hill</u> <u>Receiver Site</u>, ESSA TR ERL 65-ITS 58-1, Institute for Telecommunication <u>Sciences (ITS)</u>, Boulder, CO, March 1968.

لمنطقها أخطيته المطالبا والمقطعة

- 20. Kivett, J.A. and Diederichs, P.J., PLRS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Test Technical Report (Draft), FR 80-14-6, Hughes Aircraft Company, Fullerton, CA, January 1980.
- Qurrie, N.C., Dyer, F.B., and Martin, E.E., "Millimeter Foliage Penetration Experiments," <u>1976 IEEE Antennas and Propagation Symposium</u> Record, Amherst, MA, 1976.
- 22. McQuate, P.L., Harman, J.M., and McClanahan, M.E., Tabulation of Propagation Data Over Irregular Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part IV: Receiver Site in Grove of Trees, OT/TRER 19, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, October 1971.
- 23. Hagn, G.H., SRI Special Technical Report 19, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, January 1966, AD484239.
- 24. Hagn, G.H., Research Engineering and Support for Tropical Communications, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, 1 September 1962, AD889169.
- 25. Horwitz, C.M., "Optimization of Radio Tracking Frequencies," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, May 1979.
- 26. Hughes Aircraft Company, Final Report JTIDS Ground Foliage Propagation Tests, Technical Report FR-80-16-503, Fullerton, CA, April 1980.

- 27. Head, H.R., "The Influence of Trees on Television Field Strengths at Ultra-High Frequencies," <u>Proceedings of the IRE</u>, June 1960.
- 28. LaGrone, A.H., "Propagation of VHF and UHF Electromagnetic Waves Over a Grove of Trees in Full Leaf," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, November 1977.
- 29. Meeks, M.L., "A Low-Angle Propagation Experiment Combining Reflection and Diffraction," <u>1979 International Antennas and Propagation Symposium</u> <u>Digest</u>, 18-22 June 1979.
- 30. Longley, A.G. and Hufford, G.A., Sensor Path Loss Measurements Analysis and Comparison With Propagation Models, OTR-75-74, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, October 1975.
- 31. Doeppner, T.W., Hagn, G.H., and Sturgill, L.G., "Electromagnetic Propagation in a Tropical Environment," <u>Journal of Defense Research</u>, Winter 1972.
- 32. Presnell, R.I., PLRS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Measurements, SRI Project 8171, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, June 1980.
- Presnell, R.I., JTIDS Ground-to-Ground Propagation Measurements, SRI Project 8171, SRI, Menlo Park, CA, June 1980.
- Hicks, J.J., et al., <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Vol. II, Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, November 1969.
- 35. Sofaer, E. and Bell, C.P., "Factors Affecting the Propagation and Reception of Broadcasting Signals in the UHF Bands," <u>Proceedings of the</u> IEE, London, England, July 1966.
- 36. International Radio Consultative Committee (CCIR), <u>Methods and Statistics</u> for Estimating Field-Strength Values in the Land Mobile Services Using the Frequency Range 30 MHz to 1 GHz, Doc. USSG 5/D-11, 1981.
- 37. Bullington, K., "Radio Propagation Fundamentals," <u>Bell System Technical</u> Journal, May 1957.
- 38. Tactical Performance Assessment Program Report, Gallant Eagle 79, Patrick AFB, FL, December 1978.
- 39. Longley, A.G., <u>Radio Propagation in Urban Areas</u>, OT Report 78-144, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, April 1978.
- 40. Herbstreit, J.W. and Crichlow, W.Q., "Measurement of the Attenuation of Radio Signals by Jungles," Radio Science, August 1964.

- 41. Hagn, G.H., Shrauger, N.K., and Shepherd, R.A., VHF Propagation Results Using Low Antenna Heights in Tropical Forests, Special Technical Report 46, Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, CA, March 1973.
- 42. Sachs, D.L. and Wyatt, P.J., "A Conducting Slab Model Electromagnetic Propagation Within a Jungle Median," <u>Radio Science</u>, February 1968.
- 43. Tamir, T., "Radio Wave Propagation in Forests Environments," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, November 1967.
- 44. Tamir, T., "Radio Wave Propagation Along Mixed Paths in Forest Environments," IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation, July 1977.
- 45. Dence, D. and Tamir, T., "Radio Loss of Lateral Waves in Forest Environments," <u>Radio Science</u>, April 1969.
- 46. Ott, R.H. and Wait, J.R., <u>Excitation Mechanism for Forest-Covered and</u> <u>Vegetated Media</u>, Tech. Report ACC-ACO-8-73, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, November 1973.
- 47. Wait, J., Ott, R., and Telfer, T., editors, <u>Workshop on Radio Systems in</u> Forested and/or Vegetated Environments, AD 780-712, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, February 1974.
- 48. McQuate, P.L., et al., <u>Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Irregular</u> Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part II: Fritz Peak <u>Receiver Site</u>, ESSA TR ERL 65-ITS 58-2, Institue for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, December 1968.
- 49. McQuate, P.L., et al., <u>Tabulations of Propagation Data Over Irregular</u> <u>Terrain in the 230-9200 MHz Frequency Range, Part III: North Table</u> <u>Mountain-Golden</u>, ESSA TR ERL 65-ITS 58-3, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, 1970.
- 50. Norton, K.A., et al., "The Probability Distribution of the Amplitude of a Constant Vector Plus A Rayleigh-Distributed Vector," <u>Proceedings of the</u> IRE, October 1955.
- 51. Robertson, R.G., et al., <u>Tropical Propagation Research</u>, Final Report, Vol. III, Atlantic Research Corporation, Alexandria, VA, 1969, p. 31.
- 52. Gans, M.J., "A Power Spectral Theory of Propagation in the Mobile Radic Environment," <u>IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology</u>, February 1972.
- 53. Vincent, W.R. and Hagn, G.H., "Comments on the Performance of VHF Vehicular Radio Sets in Tropical Forests," <u>IEEE Transactions on Vehicular</u> <u>Technology</u>, August 1969.
- 54. Okumura, Y., et al., "Field Strength and Its Variability in VHF and UHF Land-Mobile Radio Service Station," <u>Review of the Tokyo Electrical</u> <u>Communication Laboratory</u>, September 1968.

- 55. Englund, C.R., et al., "Some Results of a Study of Ultra-Short-Wave Transmission Phenomena," Proceedings of the IRE, March 1933.
- 56. Jakes, W.C., "An Approximate Method to Estimate an Upper Bound on the Effect of Multipath Delay Distortion on Digital Transmission," <u>IEEE</u> Transactions on Communications Systems, January 1979.
- 57. Nesenbergs, M., "Binary Error Probability Due to Adaptable Rading Model, IEEE Transactions on Communications Systems, March 1964.
- 58. Sunde, E.D., Communication Systems Engineering Theory, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY, 1969.
- 59. GTE Lenkurt, Inc., Engineering Considerations for Microwave Communications Systems, San Carlos, CA, 1975.
- 60. Hause, L.G. and Hildebrandt, T.H., Programmer's Guide for the Automated L.O.S. Microwave Engineering Program, Institute for Telecommunication Sciences (ITS), Boulder, CO, November 1978.

## DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR AN INITIAL CRITICAL SUMMARY OF MODELS FOR PREDICTING THE ATTENUATION OF RADIO WAVES BY TREES ESD-TR-81-101

#### EXTERNAL

Air Force Ho ESD/TOET HANSCOM AFB, MA 01731

HQ USAF/FMC WASHINGTON, DC 20330

HQ TAC/XPSS LANGLEY AFB, VA 23665

USAF TAWC/EWCE ATTN: J. H. SMITH JR EGLIN AFB, FL 32541

HQ SAC/DOK OFFUTT AFB, NE 68113

HQ RADC/RBC GRIFFISS AFB, NY 13441

HQ AFCC/DOYF SCOTT AFB, IL 62225

HU PACAF/DCOF HICKAM AFB, HI 96258

HQ UGAFE/DCOYR APO NEW YORK 09012

AIR UNIVERSITY LIBRARY MAXWELL AFB, AL 36112

HQ USAF/XOKF WASHINGTON, DC 20330

HQ AFEWG ATTN: MR. JOHNSON SAN ANTONIO, TX 78243 No. of Copies

DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

#### Army

No. of Copies

1

1

1

3

HQDA DAMO-C4Z-S (PAUL PHILLIPS) WASHINGTON, DC 20310

CDR, USACECOM ATTN: DRDCO-COM-RY-5 (W. KESSLEMAN) FT. MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

CDR, USACECOM ATTN: DRSEL-SEI-A (S. SEGNER) FT. MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

USA INTELLIGENCE & THREAT ANALYSIS CENTER ATTN: IAX-TAP (MR. FLOYD) ARLINGTON HALL STATION, VA 22212

COMMAND & DIRECTOR U.S. ARMY ENGINEER TOPOGRAPHIC LABORATORIES ATTN: ETL-TD-MA (MR. OPALSKI) FT. BELVOIR, VA 22060

COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF US EUROPEAN COMMAND ATTN: ECC3S-SP (LTC HODGSON) APO NY 09128

COMMANDER U.S. ARMY SIGNAL CTR & FT. GORDO'N ATTN: ATZH-CD-CS FORT GORDON, GA 30905

CDR USAERADCOM ATTN: DRDEL-CG (MR. E PAIGE JR.) 2800 POWDER MILL RD ADELPHI, MD 20783

USCINCEUR RAFLO BONN BOX 65 (LTC H. FAIRCLOTH) US EMBASSY AFO NY 09080

CDR, USAERADCOM ATTN: DRDCO-COM-RF-2 (P. SASS) FORT MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

Similar international states in the

#### DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

#### Army

No. of Copies

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

MR. PAUL A. MAJOR CMDR HQ CECOM ATTN: DRSEL-COM-RY-2 FT. MONMOUTH, NJ 07703

MR. DAVID PRICHARD U.S. ARMY SYSTEMS ANALYSIS ACTIVITY ABERDEEN PROVING GROUND, MD 21005

MR. FRANCIS J. LEYVA USA EPG-MT-DS FT. HUACHUCA, AZ 85613

#### Marine Corps

COMMANDANT OF THE MARINE CORPS (ATTN: LMC-1) HEADQUARTERS, U.S. MARINE CORPS WASHINGTON, DC 20380

COMMANDANT OF THE MARINE CORPS (ATTN: RD) HEADQUARTERS, U.S. MARINE CORPS WASHINGTON, DC 20380

COMMANDANT OF THE MARINE CORPS (ATTN: INT) HEADQUARTERS, U.S. MARINE CORPS WASHINGTON, DC 20380

DIRECTOR DEVELOPMENT CENTER MARINE CORPS DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATION COMMAND (ATTN: CCC DIV COMMAND AND CONTROL BR) QUANTICO, VA 22134

#### COMMANDER

NAVAL ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS COMMAND ATTN: CODE 5403-M WASHINGTON, LC 20360

COMMANDER NAVAL ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS COMMAND ATTN: CODE 5402 WASHINGTON, DC 20360

ระประสที่สี่มีที่ เป็นพบและการแบบการสายสารสัยแก่บานการไม่การสายสายน้ำการการสารสารสารสารสารสายสายสายสายสัยบันได้การสารสายไ

## DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

1.210

Marine Corps	No. of Copies
COMMANDER NAVAL ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS COMMAND ATTN: CODE 5401 WASHINGTON, DC 20360	1
COMMANDING OFFICER MARINE CORPS TACTICAL SYSTEMS SUPPORT ACTIVITY ATTN: TSDB/COMM-ELEC CAMP PENDLETON, CA 92055	١
Navy	
CHIEF OF NAVAL OPERATIONS (OP-941F) NAVY DEPARTMENT WASHINGTON, DC 20350	۱
COMMANDING OFFICER NAVAL RESEARCH LABORATORY WASHINGTON, DC 20375	1
COMMANDER NAVAL AIR DEVELOPMENT CENTER WARMINSTER, PA 18974	1
Commander Naval ocean systems center San Diego, ca 92152	1
DR. JOHN F. CAVANAGH, F405 U.S. NAVAL SURFACE WEAPONS CENTER DAHLGREN LABORATORY	1

DR. DAVID DEUCE, CODE 34 NAVAL UNDERWATER SYSTEMS CENTER NEW LONDON LABORATORY NEW LONDON, CT 06320

DAHLGREN, VA 22448

## DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

## No. of Copies Special Projects 1 DIRECTOR DEFENSE COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY ATTN: CODE 225 WASHINGTON, DC 20305 2 DIRECTOR NATIONAL SECURITY AGENCY ATTN: W36/MR. V. MCCONNELL FT. GEORGE G. MEADE, MD 20755 1 FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION FOB IOA/RM 512 ATTN: ARD-450 800 INDEPENDENCE AVE, SW WASHINGTON, DC 20591 1 NATIONAL AERONAUTICS & SPACE ADMINISTRATION GODDARD SPACE FLIGHT CENTER ATTN: CODE 801/JIM SCOTT GREENBELT, MD 20771 1 COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF US EUROPEAN COMMAND ATTN: C3S-SP APO NY 09128 1 COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF PACIFIC ATTN: C3STM BOX 29/32A CP HM SMITH, HI 96861 1 COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF US SOUTHERN COMMAND ATTN: SC-G APO MIAMI 34003 1 COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF U.S. READINESS COMMAND ATTN: RCJ6-0 MACDILL AFB, FL 33608

# DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

Special Projects	No. of Copies
NATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS &	1
INFORMATION ADMIN.	
ATTN: STAN COHN	
1325 E. ST., N.W.	
WASHINGTON, DC 20005	
MR. RICHARD TELL	1
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY	
9100 BROOKVILLE ROAD	
SILVER SPRING, MD 20910	
DCEC	1
ATTN: (R 410)	
1860 WEIHLE AVENUE	
RESTON, VA 22090	
	3
DIRECTOR DEFENSE COMMUNICATIONS AGENCY	5
OPERATIONS CENTER	
ATTN: N240	
WASHINGTON, DC 20305	
RAPID DEPLOYMENT AGENCY	1
ATTN: RDJ6-T	
MACDILL AFB, FL 33608	
Other	
	1
HQ JEWC ATTN: MR. MESKILL	•
SAN ANTONIO, TX 78243	
MR. WILLIAM DANIEL	1
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ENGINEER, RESEARCH DIVISION	
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION	
1909 M STREET, N.W.	
WASHINGTON, DC 20554	
DR. G. HUFFORD	1
INSTITUTE FOR TELECOMMUNICATION SCIENCES	
BOULDER, CO 80303	

2

والمعتمان والمعالمة والمتقادة

ومحفظهم والمحتب مسر فلاشتاذ فالمحسوس شامح والقطور شاكات مسيب

## DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

Other	No. of Copies
MR. E. VIOLETTE INSTITUTE FOR TELECOMMUNICATION SCIENCES BOULDER, CO 80303	۱
MR. HOWARD HEAD AD RING & ASSOCIATES 1771 N. STREET, N.W. WASHINGTON, DC 20036	1
MR. GEORGE HAGN SRI INTERNATIONAL 1611 NORTH KENT STREET ARLINGTON, VA 22209	1
PROFESSOR WARREN STUTZMAN VIRGINIA POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE AND STATE UNIVERSITY BLACKSBURG, VA 24061	1
DR. S. PARL SIGNATRON, INC. 12 HARTWELL AVENUE LEXINGTON, MA 02173	1
DR. E. K. SMITH JET PROPULSION LABORATORY CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY 4800 OAK GROVE DRIVE PASADENA, CA 91103	١
DR. D. H. BLISS COLLINS TELECOMMUNICATIONS PRODUCTS DIVISION 855 35TH STREET, N.E. P.O. BOX 728 CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52406	1
PROFESSOR RICHARD MOORE THE UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS CENTER FOR RESEARCH, INC. 2291 IRVING HILL DRIVE - CAMPUS WEST LAWRENCE, KS 66045	1
DR. M. LITTLETON MEEKS P.O. BOX 73 MIT LINCOLN LABORATORY LEXINGTON, MA 02173	1

THE PARTY STATE

DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

Other

No. of Copies

1

1

1

1

2

1

1

12

DR. MICHAEL S. FRANKEL RADIO PHYSICS LABORATORY SRI INTERNATIONAL 333 RAVENSWOOD AVENUE MENLO PARK, CA 94025

PROFESSOR A. H. LAGRONE DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AUSTIN, TX 78712

PROFESSOR T. TAMIR DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING AND ELECTROPHYSICS POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE OF NEW YORK BROOKLYN, NY 11201

DR. K. CHAMBERLIN DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING OHIO UNIVERSITY ATHENS, OH 45701

MR. WILLIAM FRAJIER U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NTIA ADMIRAL COCHRANE DRIVE ANNAPOLIS, MD 21401

MR. PHILLIP L. RICE CONSULTING PHYSICIST 3076 11TH STREET BOULDER, CO 80302

DR. HAROLD T. DOUGHERTY INSTITUTE FOR TELECOMMUNICATION SCIENCES BOULDER, CO 80303

DEFENSE TECHNICAL INFORMATION CENTER CAMERON STATION ALEXANDRIA, VA 22314

DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

INTERNAL

たちますないなどでするべ

No. of Copies

INTERAVE		
	۱	
CA	1	
CF	1	
CJ	1	
CN	1	
CN	1	
XM/J. Janoski	1	
DO	1	
00-1	1	
DO-2	1	
DI	1	
DIB .	i	
DIC	1	
מוט	15	
DIL	1	
DIO	1	
DR	i	
DRC	1	
DRD	1	
DRD/R. Meidenbauer	1	
DRD/H. Riggins	1	
DRD/W. Stuart	1	
DRM	5	
DRM/M. Weissberger	1	
DRS	1	
DS	1	
DSA	1	
DSB	1	
DSF	1	
DST	1	
DC	1	
DCB	1	
DCC	1	
DCF	1	
DCI	1	
DF	1	
DFA	1	
DFB	1	
DFS		
NC	1	
DNA	i	
DNA/G. Meyers	1	
DNM	•	

المادة والأستعادية

M20.

1.00

## DISTRIBUTION LIST FOR ESD-TR-81-101 (Continued)

# INTERNAL

and a state of the state of the

edis de Landa contractor a contra

## No. of Copies

7

.- 4

DNM/R. DNN	Drew	1 1
DQ		2
DUP/K.	Woodcock	1
	Whiteman	1